

SCHOOL OF GLOBAL STUDIES

Rights, Religion and Atrocity Prevention

An explorative field study of the involvement of religious leaders in Uganda

Dissertation in Human Rights, 30 higher education credits Autumn Semester 2019 Author: Elias Berg Supervisor: Jan Bachmann

Abstract

This study examines the nexus of human rights, atrocity prevention and the involvement of religious leaders in Uganda. States hold legal responsibility for preventing atrocity crimes, but influential nonstate actors also have a role in minimizing risks of mass atrocity crimes. Religious leaders can play an important role by influencing the behaviour of their adherents; either negatively by upholding intolerant messages of hostility, discrimination and incitement to violence, or positively by counteracting intolerance, discriminatory stereotyping and instances of hate speech. The study aimed to explore how religious leaders are involved in atrocity prevention, including searching for facilitators and barriers for such an involvement. For this purpose, the study used an explorative qualitative lifeworld approach with semi-structured interviews. Data collection included twelve individual interviews with religious leaders from four different denominations: 4 Anglican, 4 Pentecostal, 2 Catholic and 2 Muslim. Word by word transcription and thematic analysis was conducted on the material. The results show that religious leaders in Uganda can be naturally involved in atrocity prevention. Through leadership they can mitigate identity-based division by promoting inclusive societies, mediating in conflicts and advocating for peace. The study identified five facilitators and barriers for involving religious leaders in atrocity prevention. Facilitators are: (I) endorsing a theology of human dignity, (II) a self-understanding of mission and mandate, (III) promoting holistic peacebuilding, (IV) education, and (V) networking. Barriers are: (I) poverty levels among leaders as well as adherents, (II) political silencing or affiliation, (III) ignorant and selfish leadership, (IV) lack of resources, and (V) international relations. The study adds perspectives on the possibilities, through facilitators and barriers, to engage religious leaders in early response to risk factors of mass atrocities.

Key Words: Human Rights, Atrocity Prevention, Involving Religious Leaders, Freedom of Religion, Uganda

Word Count: 19 880 (Except abstract, acknowledgements, abbreviations, tables, footnotes, references and appendixes)

Acknowledgements

Först av allt, tack älskade Frida! Utan ditt outtröttliga stöd hade detta projekt aldrig kunnat genomföras. Tack Adeline och Lydia för att ni sprider glädje i vardagen, det bästa med fältstudien i Uganda var när ni hälsade på mig. Tack också till mina föräldrar, Urban och Marie, för stöd under processen och för att ni lät mig få smak för Afrika genom uppväxten i DR Kongo. Tack Tobias för hjälp med texten. Tack Smyrnaförsamlingen i Älvängen för tjänstledighet och uppmuntran till utveckling. Tack SIDA för MFS-stipendiet.

Thank you Jan for your sharp guidance through this process. Thank you Henry, James, Mathew, Jane & Musa for invaluable support before and during my field study in Uganda. Thank you God for the gift of life and for a common humanity.

Elias Berg, Älvängen 4 November 2019

Abbreviations

ADF	Allied Democratic Forces
ARLPI	Acholi Religious Leaders Peace Initiative
CoU	Church of Uganda
CSO	Civil Society Organizations
DRC	Democratic Republic of Congo
ECOSOC	United Nations Economic and Social Council
lgbtq	Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer
ICCPR	International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights
ICISS	International Commission on Intervention and Stat Sovereignty
IDP	Internally Displaced Persons
IRC	Inter-Religious Council of Uganda
LRA	The Lord's Resistance Army
NATO	North Atlantic Treaty Organization
NRM	National Resistance Movement
OHCHR	Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
Plan of Action	Plan of action for religious leaders and actors to prevent incitement to violence that
	could lead to atrocity crimes
PMUC	Pentecostal Ministries of Uganda Churches
RCC	Roman Catholic Church
R2P	Responsibility to Protect
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
UDHR	Universal Declaration of Human Rights
UNCST	Uganda National Council for Science and Technology
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
UNOGPRP	United Nations Office on Genocide Prevention and the Responsibility to Protect
UJCC	Uganda Joint Christian Council

Table of Contents

	Abstract		
	Acknowledgements		
	ABBREV	VIATIONS	3
	LIST OF	TABLES	5
1		RODUCTION	6
1.	1.1.	BACKGROUND	
	1.1.	PROBLEM FORMULATION, AIM AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS	
	1.3.	Disposition	
	-		
2.		NFLICT AND RELIGION IN UGANDA	-
	2.1.	CONFLICT	
	2.2.	Religion	11
3.	PRE	EVIOUS RESEARCH	13
	3.1.	ATROCITY PREVENTION	13
	3.2.	INVOLVEMENT OF RELIGIOUS ACTORS	15
	3.3.	CONFLICT AND RELIGION IN UGANDA	16
4.	тис	EORETICAL PERSPECTIVES	10
	4.1.	FRAMEWORK FOR UNDERSTANDING THE PREVENTION OF MASS ATROCITIES	
	4.2.	RELIGION AND PEACEMAKING: A CONCEPTUALISATION	
	4.3.	FREEDOM OF RELIGION OR BELIEF: A CONCEPTUALISATION	
5.		THOD	
	5.1.	A LIFEWORLD APPROACH	
	5.2.	DATA COLLECTION	
	5.3.	DATA ANALYSIS	
	5.4.	ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	
	5.5.	DISCUSSION ON SOURCE CRITICISM, OBJECTIVITY, RELIABILITY AND VALIDITY	24
6.	RES	SULTS	26
	6.1.	CHARACTER OF CONFLICTS	26
	6.1.	.1. Socio-Political challenges	26
	6.1.	.2. Religious division	27
	6.2.	FACILITATORS FOR INVOLVING RELIGIOUS LEADERS	28
	6.2.	1. Theology of human dignity	28
	6.2.		
	6.2.	1 5	30
	6.2.		
	6.2.	5	
	6.3.		
	6.3.	.1. Poverty	32
	6.3. 6.3.	1. Poverty 2. Politics	32 33
	6.3. 6.3. 6.3.	.1. Poverty .2. Politics .3. Ignorance	32 33 34
	6.3. 6.3. 6.3. 6.3.	 Poverty Politics Ignorance Lack of resources 	32 33 34 35
	6.3. 6.3. 6.3.	 Poverty Politics Ignorance Lack of resources 	32 33 34 35
7.	6.3. 6.3. 6.3. 6.3. 6.3.	 Poverty Politics Ignorance Lack of resources 	32 33 34 35 35
7. 8.	6.3. 6.3. 6.3. 6.3. 6.3. DIS	 Poverty	32 33 34 35 35 37
	6.3. 6.3. 6.3. 6.3. 6.3. DISC	 Poverty	32 33 34 35 35 37 40
8.	6.3. 6.3. 6.3. 6.3. 6.3. DISC CON REF	 Poverty	32 33 34 35 35 37 40 42

List of tables

Table 1. Participants	23
Table 2. Phases of thematic analysis	

1. Introduction

During my field study in Uganda, in April 2019, the 25th anniversary of the Rwandan genocide was commemorated by 100 days of mourning in the neighboring country. The killings of 800 000 people also affected Uganda, and I heard stories of how massacred bodies had been washed down the Kagera River all the way to the shores of Lake Victoria in Uganda. When I read about the horrible events in a New York Times article from May 21, 1994, a glimpse of the underlying hatred and brutality is revealed. The head of the clean-up operation described the sight: "There are so many of them. Children are skewered on sticks. I saw a woman cut open from the tail bone. They have removed breasts and male genital organs. (Lorch, 1994)"

However, this is not a study of darkness. It is about hope and letting light conquer darkness by preventing the occurrence of future atrocities. For me personally, as a Pentecostal Pastor, it is vital to reflect on the role of religious leaders. The importance of taking responsibility for our shared humanity was expressed by a religious leader during one of my interviews in Uganda.

You cannot live your own life, I cannot live my own life. I live because you are and you live because I am. So that relationship, that sharing, that environment that we are sharing was given to us as a gift for our humanity. We must protect it. (Interview 1, 2019)

The task of respecting human dignity is a shared responsibility. We must protect it. By field study in Uganda, with interviews of local religious leaders, this study contributes by exploring possibilities for involving religious leaders in atrocity prevention.

1.1. Background

This study examines the nexus of human rights, atrocity prevention and the involvement of religious actors. The connection of these fields is explored from the perspective of religious leaders in Uganda. This section will present a starting point for the study by framing the fields in concern.

The concept of human rights sprung out from the experience of "barbarous acts which have outraged the conscience of mankind" and the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) proclaimed the vision of "freedom, justice and peace in the world" including the idea that "human beings shall enjoy freedom of speech and belief and freedom from fear and want" (United Nations General Assembly, 1948). Human rights has since then been widely accepted as a common standard for all peoples and all nations, but the importance and challenge of implementing the vision has never decreased and the vision has not yet been realized. As we have seen from the citation above, this study will relate to the very core of human rights, that human beings shall enjoy freedom of speech and belief, as well as freedom from fear and want. The indivisibility of rights doesn't neglect the fact that different rights can chafe against each other, and there can be conflict between *freedom* of speech and freedom of religion and belief. This tension is coded in the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) article 20.2 which states that "any advocacy of national, racial or religious hatred that constitutes incitement to discrimination, hostility or violence shall be prohibited by law" (United Nations General Assembly, 1966). The UN further emphasises the danger of incitement to violence by linking prevention of incitement to the prevention of atrocity crimes. The underlying motivation for targeting a community may be strengthened by "exclusionary ideology and the construction of identities in terms of 'us' and 'them' to accentuate differences" (United Nations General Assembly, 2013, p5). A well-known example of this is the use of the dehumanising name "cockroaches" before and during the 1994 genocide in Rwanda.

The failure of the international community to prevent atrocity crimes in Rwanda and the Balkans in the 1990s accelerated the debate on how to ensure the prevention of and intervention against gross and systematic violations of human rights. The process led to the concept of the responsibility to protect (R2P), presented by the International Commission on Intervention and Stat Sovereignty (ICISS) in 2001 and the subsequent commitment to the principle in the 2005 United Nations World Summit Outcome Document (A/RES/60/1). The document paragraphs 138 & 139 are considered to contain

three pillars of R2P (UNOGPRP, 2019a). The first pillar stipulates the responsibility of every state to protect its population from the four mass atrocity crimes: genocide, war crimes, crimes against humanity and ethnic cleansing. This entails the *prevention of atrocity crimes* including their incitement. The second pillar prescribes the wider international community to having the responsibility to encourage and assist individual states in protecting its population from atrocity crimes, as well as using diplomatic and humanitarian means when necessary. The third pillar stipulates how the international community must be prepared to take appropriate collective action, in a timely and decisive manner through the Security Council if a state is manifestly failing to protect its populations and peaceful means are inadequate. Atrocity prevention is however still struggling and voices have been raised for involving other actors. The United Nations Office on Genocide Prevention and the Responsibility to Protect (UNOGPRP) points out that States have the legal responsibility for preventing atrocity crimes, but also other actors such as Civil Society Organizations (CSO) and religious leaders also have a role in "minimizing atrocity risks" and that they "play an important grassroots early warning role, particularly as new technologies allow live information to be provided" (UNOGPRP, 2019b).

As we will see in section 3.1 concerning previous research, the academic discussion regarding R2P and atrocity prevention has lately progressed to include private actors. The role of private actors has also been raised in regard to responsibilities in human rights¹. *Religious actors* are considered to have played an important role in the evolving² of the human rights concept as well as being part of its future implementation³, but an important question to raise is whether there are other ways to better make use of the influence of religious actors and leaders for protecting civilians from large scale human rights abuses by the prevention of mass atrocities?

Recently, initiatives have been taken to also involve religious leaders and actors also in the mission of preventing incitement to violence that could lead to atrocity crimes. In 2017, UNOGPRP presented the Plan of action for religious leaders and actors to prevent incitement to violence that could lead to atrocity crimes (Hereafter "Plan of Action"), in which the UN Secretary-General António Guterrez in the foreword points out that "religious leaders can play a particularly important role in influencing the behaviour of those who share their beliefs" (UNOGPRP, 2017, p1). With the involvement of religious leaders and actors in what has been called "the Fez process", the Plan of Action ended up to present "a programmatic tool" aiming to "contribute to the prevention of atrocity crimes [and] enhance the respect, protection and promotion of human rights, including the right to freedom of opinion and expression, freedom of religion or belief and peaceful assembly" (UNOGPRP, 2017, p12). Religious leaders can use their influence in either positive or negative ways. Negative influence is described as intolerant messages characterised by hostility, discrimination and incitement to violence. Positive influence is described as "speaking out firmly and promptly against intolerance, discriminatory stereotyping and instances of hate speech" (UNOGPRP, 2017, p7). The Plan of Action is connecting the fields of human rights, religion and atrocity prevention and has in that way been inspirational for this study.

There are many places where a research regarding involvement of religious leaders in peacebuilding and atrocity prevention would be relevant. A primary condition is the influence attributed to religious leaders. Uganda is highly religious and most of the population are influenced by religious leaders. Other important factors in the case selection is the relevance of atrocity crimes

¹ See for example *Human Rights and Private Wrongs: Constructing Global Civil Society* by Alison Brysk, (2013).

² See for example the 2018 EU publication *Shared space of religion and human rights* which states that "the roots of modern human rights discourse is in theological discourse" and lists shared values between religion and human rights regarding human dignity, freedoms, equality, solidarity and justice (European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights, 2017).

³ Religious actors play an important role in the promotion of human rights through many different international bodies such as the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, for a brief summary: <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/at-your-service/files/be-heard/religious-and-non-confessional-</u> <u>dialogue/events/en-20181204-eprs-briefing-religion-and-human-rights.pdf</u>

prevention. Comparative genocide studies have identified risk factors of social, political and economic dimensions such as "identity-based division, state-based discrimination, past atrocities, issues of governance including widespread human rights violations, limited rule of law, absence of or weak democracy, and finally, low integration into the world economy, and inequality of wealth and opportunities" (McLoughlin, 2014b, p423). Most of these factors can be attributed to Uganda.⁴

1.2. Problem formulation, aim and research questions

Mass atrocities are serious factors for gross human rights violations. R2P in the narrow sense of state sanctioned protection and prevention is not enough to mitigate the risk of atrocity crimes. Religious leaders have a huge influence in many societies and it seems to be possible to involve them to a greater extent in the protection of human rights through atrocity prevention. Religious leadership is not supposed to supersede the state in the responsibility to protect, but to contribute to society by using its mandate and influence over their followers in the direction of preventing incitement, intolerance and identity-based violence. Religious leaders in Uganda are highly influential, but to what extent are the leaders willing and able to exercise this kind of societal leadership? Do the leaders see motivations and relevance to act for atrocity prevention, and what are the facilitators and barriers for this involvement of religious leaders in Uganda? There is a research gap in these areas and further empirical knowledge and understanding on this topic can contribute to the discussion on involving religious leaders, and also to the fulfilment of Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 16 in Agenda 2030 regarding peace, justice and strong institutions.

Aim

The aim of this study is to explore how religious leaders in Uganda are involved in atrocity prevention.

Research questions

How are religious leaders in Uganda involved in atrocity prevention?
 What are the facilitators and barriers for involving religious leaders in Uganda in atrocity prevention?

The first question relates to what religious leaders already experience in terms of atrocity prevention. In what areas are they involved and what are their interest in acting for preventing atrocities? Are they willing to take responsibilities in society that stretch outside their own group? The other question concern what factors there are that can either increase or decrease the potential for involving religious leaders in atrocity prevention?

Exploration was justified by the absence of research on involving religious leaders in preventing atrocity crimes in Uganda (Stebbins, 2001). The study used an explorative qualitative lifeworld approach with semi-structured interviews of religious leaders in order to answer the research questions. Methods and methodology is further presented in Chapter 5.

Delimitation

For the study to include different views of religious leaders, it involved four different perspectives from the main religions/denominations of the country: Roman Catholic, Church of Uganda (Anglican), Muslim and Pentecostal. Both urban (Kampala) and rural (Lamwo⁵ district in northern Uganda) perspectives was sought for as well as perspectives from different levels of religious leadership (national and local). The study will only interview religious leaders and not seek for other perspectives due to limited time of field study.

⁴ See Chapter 2 for a deeper presentation of Uganda and its relevance for this study.

⁵ Lamwo district borders to South Sudan. For a detailed map over Uganda districts, see the Electoral Map of Uganda <u>https://www.ec.or.ug/maps/Cons_Map.pdf</u>

Definitions

- *Religious leaders* are defined according to the Plan of Action as "those who were or are formally assigned leadership roles by their respective religious institution or communities and/or hold formal religious qualifications" (UNOGPRP, 2017, p9).
- Atrocity prevention⁶ is defined by Peace Insight as referring to "a broad range of tools and strategies which aim to prevent the occurrence of mass killings and other large scale human rights abuses committed against civilians" (Peace Insight, 2019).

1.3. Disposition

This introductory chapter is followed by a presentation of Uganda in Chapter 2 with special emphasis on conflict and religion. After that, the research field in concern is mapped in Chapter 3 focusing on atrocity prevention, involvement of religious actors, and finally, conflict and religion in Uganda. Theoretical perspectives are presented in Chapter 4, and is followed by a presentation of methods used and methodological discussion in Chapter 5. Results of the empirical research are presented in Chapter 6, and is followed by a theoretical discussion in Chapter 7. Chapter 8 contains a brief summary of the study and concluding thoughts.

⁶ For more information regarding atrocity prevention with short history and relevance for local nonstate actors, visit: <u>https://www.peaceinsight.org/themes/atrocity-prevention/</u>

2. Conflict and Religion in Uganda

Uganda is characterised by several risk factors for atrocity crimes and is at the same time a highly religious country with influential religious leaders. These factors together with a relatively stable situation at the moment with opportunities to take preventative actions is making Uganda a relevant case for conducting this kind of exploratory research. This chapter will present a background to the field study in Uganda, focusing on conflict and religion. First, we will have a look at some of the present risk factors⁷ for atrocity crimes.

There is a history in Uganda of identity-based division on ethnic or religious grounds and also past atrocities, as we will see in the conflict section below. There are also present challenges in the field of human rights and political governance, the Human Rights Watch (HRW) 2019 report describes a shrinking space where "violations of rights to freedoms of association, expression, and assembly persisted, as security forces beat and at times, tortured and arbitrarily detained protesters, journalists and opposition members" (2019). The level of democracy is limited; according to the Economist's Democracy Index, Uganda has for the last ten years been rated as a "hybrid regime"⁸, currently at 96th place of 167 countries (The Economist Intelligence Unit, 2019). Economic challenges remain even if there has been an economic growth in recent years and poverty levels have fallen. Income inequality in Uganda has continued to increase during the last 25 years according to an Oxfam report from 2017. "Those at the bottom are on a downward poverty spiral while those at the top are on an upward trend and, if this continues, inequality can only worsen" (Oxfam, 2017, p17).

2.1. Conflict

Colonial intervention has nurtured differentiation and opposition between majority and minority groups. There is a violent history in the country including atrocities from the cruel leadership of Idi Amin and the rebel military operations by the religiously labelled The Lord's Resistance Army (LRA). The Office of the Prime Minister is still running programs⁹ and projects to rehabilitate instable regions, but has also been accused of using the liberation narrative in order to legitimise the militarisation of society and civil administration (Reuss and Titeca, 2017b).

Uganda is ethnically pluralistic with more than 50 distinct groups, and ethnic conflicts have been pervasive since independence in 1962 (Rohner et al., 2013). The colonial rule of the British Empire fuelled ethnic tension by restricting inter-ethnic movements and by discriminatory exclusion of administration. After the independence in 1962, ethnicity has dominated politics with leaders promoting positions for their own group. Current president Yoweri Museveni is leading the National Resistance Movement (NRM) and has ruled the country since 1986, having its main support in the South. Rebel opposition was encountered from the Allied Democratic Forces (ADF), active close to the border to DRC until 2004. Otherwise, opposition and armed rebellion have mainly been present in the northern "Acholiland" region where LRA was active in Uganda until 2006, a conflict having deep historical roots grounded in ethnic hostilities. Although LRA had ethnic bounds to the Acholi by

⁷ For a list of risk factors for atrocity crimes, see Stephen Mcloughlin's contribution in section 1.1.

⁸ Definition of hybrid regimes: "Elections have substantial irregularities that often prevent them from being both free and fair. Government pressure on opposition parties and candidates may be common. Serious weaknesses are more prevalent than in flawed democracies—in political culture, functioning of government and political participation. Corruption tends to be widespread and the rule of law is weak. Civil society is weak. Typically, there is harassment of and pressure on journalists, and the judiciary is not independent." (The Economist Intelligence Unit, 2019, p49)

⁹ For example, "Promoting peace dialogue aimed at resolving armed conflict in Northern Uganda" (Office of the Prime Minister, 2019)

drafting many Acholi military deserters, they also attacked villages from their own ethnic background and thus the civil population suffered abuses from both LRA and government troops.¹⁰

There have also been recent outbreaks of violent clashes between government forces and groups with distinct ethnic identity. Ethnic tension is not limited to Northern Uganda. In the Rwenzori region in Western Uganda, at the border to DRC, there have been clashes including revenge attacks with over 100 people killed in 2014 and additional violence after the 2016 election with more than 50 dead (Reuss and Titeca, 2017a). The present situation in Uganda is also affected by the general regional instability in Central Africa with present conflicts in surrounding countries such as Democratic Republic of Congo and South Sudan. In July 2019 there were more than 1.3 million refugees in Uganda, with 838 323 from South Sudan while 365 883 came from DRC (UNHCR, 2019). The Lamwo district in northern Uganda was included in the field studies and is hosting several camps containing South Sudanese refugees.

2.2. Religion

Religion is playing a vital role in Ugandan society. According to the 2014 census, a population of 34.6 million contain 39.3 % Catholics, 32.0 % Anglicans (Church of Uganda), 13.7 % Muslims and 11.1 % Pentecostals/Born Again/Evangelical, while only 1 % define themselves as non-religious (Uganda Bureau of Statistics, 2016). According to a study by Pew Research Center, Uganda is one of the most religious countries in Africa since 86 % of the population consider religion to be "very important" while 82 % respond that they attend religious services "at least weekly" (Pew Research Center, 2010).

The history of the two main churches, Roman Catholic Church (RCC) and Anglican Church of Uganda (CoU) can be traced back to missionaries more than a century ago.¹¹ Of the four religious perspectives considered in this study, the CoU and RCC are particularly institutionalised. Islam in Uganda can be traced back to the 1840s. Muslims are mainly relating to the Uganda Muslim Supreme Council, which is a Sunni Islamic organisation, but there are several different groups in the country based on regional and ethnic background, and also due to international support.¹² The Pentecostal (commonly also labelled as Born Again churches) are comprised of a myriad of independent churches. The 2014 census show that these churches had grown from 4.7 % in 2002 to comprise 11.1 % of the population, and the levels are expected to have risen to even higher levels up to date (Uganda Bureau of Statistics, 2016). But it is a loosely connected movement with several umbrella organisations. Some denominations have stronger structures but many churches are independent and organised around the main pastor and his family. The Pentecostal leaders involved in this interview study are primarily relating to the Pentecostal Ministries of Uganda Churches (PMUC).¹³

¹⁰ For further presentation of Ugandan conflicts and analysis of the relation between conflicts, ethnic identity and trust, please read the *Seeds of distrust: conflicts in Uganda* (Rohner et al., 2013).

¹¹ The Anglicans (or Protestants as they are nowadays widely called in Uganda) were invited by the Bugunda king in 1877 with the help of the English colonial administration. The Catholic Church had already established a diocese in Sudan when it arrived in northern Uganda a few years later. The missionaries of the two churches started the first schools in the country and thereby shaped the new Ugandan educated elite. By 1962 and the independence, most of the clergy were domestic. For a brief history on early Christianity in Uganda, see Jordhus-Lier and Braathen (2013).

¹² For history and present challenges of Islam in Uganda, see *The Muslim Minority in Uganda: The Historical Quest for Unity and Inclusion* (Soi, 2016).

¹³ The PMUC arose from the work together with Swedish missionaries and partners, the current organisation was formed in 1998. PMUC is a Pentecostal denomination with around 250 churches in all regions of Uganda. PMUC has a democratic organisational structure and an executive committee including women as well as leaders originated from neighbouring countries. They are running developmental initiatives such as adult literacy projects in mainly rural areas. With these characteristics, PMUC can be categorised to what Miller labelled as "Progressive Pentecostalism" (Miller, 2007). Personally, I had not been engaged to the PMUC prior to this study, even though there are connections with the Swedish Pentecostal Movement where I serve as Pastor. For a reflection over my role as a researcher, please see section 5.5. Discussion on Source Criticism, Objectivity, Reliability and Validity.

After independence in 1962, religious and regional lines divided politics, and during Idi Amin's military dictatorship in the 1970s, which promoted Islam, both CoU and RCC were brutally persecuted. Since the start of Museveni's reign, the two main churches have avoided political tensions and have strengthened ecumenical cooperation and "emphasised human rights and national reconciliation across political, ethnic, regional and religious cleavages" (Jordhus-Lier and Braathen, 2013, p117).

One example of religious actors taking active part in conflict politics by promoting peace was when an LRA massacre of 400 villagers in Lamwo in 1997 initiated cooperation and a joint prayer in Kitgum town by religious leaders from four denominations (Catholic, Protestant, Islam and Orthodox). This joint action was later formalised as the Acholi Religious Leaders Peace Initiative (ARLPI), and was vital in forming peace initiatives such as the Amnesty Bill in 1999, a peace conference in Gulu town the same year, as well as a consultative meeting with leaders from northern Uganda and Sudan which brought international attention to the conflict. Ntale argues ARLPI has transformed local religious groups into strong nonstate actors who in cases of significant state weakness can provide important "development support in addition to the spiritual, emotional and psychological support to victims of violent conflicts" (2012, p340).

Religion has a huge impact on politics in Uganda. This is most clearly institutionalised by the Uganda Joint Christian Council (UJCC) founded in 1964 containing RCC, CoU and Uganda's small Orthodox Church. UJCC has for the last decade arranged presidential debates, election monitoring and has continued to emphasise peaceful elections. Inter-Religious Council of Uganda (IRC) is a broader interfaith initiative started in 2001, including the Uganda Muslim Supreme Council, the Seventh Day Adventists as well as two different Pentecostal churches. However, religious interference in state politics have not always been appreciated. Alava & Ssentongo mentions how clergy who protested against the government's treatment of Acholi people in the Northern Uganda war were imprisoned and missionaries were deported (2016). Even recently, critical political statements of clerics have been rebuked by government officials for letting religion interfere with state politics.

3. Previous research

The subject field, involvement of religious leaders in atrocity prevention, is in a narrow sense an unexplored area. This section will broaden the scope to consider atrocity prevention within the R2P and the inclusion of nonstate actors. This is a growing field of research with both theoretical discussion and also some empirical studies to consider. This literature review will also consider previous research regarding involving religious leaders and actors in peacebuilding. Religious peacebuilding has emerged to a distinct and growing field of research which stands close to atrocity prevention. The final section of this chapter will summarize relevant research specific for Uganda in the fields of conflict and religion. This chapter points to the relevance of conducting research on the involvement of nonstate actors in general, and specifically to explore the role of religious leaders in atrocity prevention. It will also lead us to the three theoretical perspectives presented in the following chapter and applied to analyse the collected material of this study.

3.1. Atrocity Prevention

A number of wars in the 1990s characterised by internal conflict and internal displacements raised the discussion on sovereign responsibility on one hand and the right to humanitarian intervention on the other hand. NATO's 1999 intervention in Kosovo raised the commitment to improve protection of internally displaced persons (IDP) and to make timely humanitarian intervention. This was the concern of UN Secretary-General Kofi Annan when he "challenged international society to develop a way of reconciling the twin principles of sovereignty (and protection of self-determination) and fundamental human rights" (Reike and Bellamy, 2010, p272). R2P originates from the idea that sovereignty demands both rights and responsibilities; the people have rights to determine its government and the state is responsible to offer security. The work by the ICISS resulting in the R2P principle was different from the previous "big-power secret diplomacy" and Thomas G. Weiss argues that "network diplomacy" has been a transformative power for rewriting the norms for ending mass atrocities (2013, p12). The ICISS process mobilized not only state representatives, but also individuals, civil society, private organisations and academia.

A growing interest for the role of nonstate actors in atrocity prevention can also be seen in more recent discussions regarding R2P and its future implementation. In 2015, when the R2P concept turned ten years, various scientific journals presented interesting reflective articles regarding future implementation and the possible involvement of nonstate local actors. Debate regarding R2P has moved from establishing the norm to focusing on the challenge of implementation and to connect R2P to present work "in areas such as conflict prevention, peacebuilding, the protection of civilians, international criminal justice, and the protection and empowerment of woman and girls" (Bellamy, 2015, p180-181). Micro-level efforts (Welsh, 2016) and increased support for "locally-led peacebuilding and prevention actors and capacities" (Moix, 2015) are encouraged. This local perspective include national capacities and actors within the international society, but specifically local civil society.

Debate regarding R2P has often focused on military interventions, but more effort should be focused on non-military preventative actions. The idea of involving nonstate actors and local initiatives has however also been questioned, by reasoning that it would erode and weaken the R2P concept. The former UN Secretary-General's Special Adviser on the Responsibility to Protect Edward C. Luck is for that reason proposing the development of a concept of individual responsibility to protect (IR2P) as a supplement to R2P, "which looks at prevention, protection, and recovery through the lens of individual and group responsibility" (2015). From a narrow R2P, recent developments has expanded the concept toward the wider idea of atrocity prevention. These ideas has in the academic debate so far been part of conceptual discussions rather than practical experiences. This points to the relevance of exploring the involvement of religious leaders in atrocity prevention.

There are recent examples of nonstate actors involved in atrocity prevention that can serve as encouragement for involvement of religious leaders. Ekkehard Strauss recognises that prevention of mass atrocities usually considers actors on international, regional or state level and "only sparingly refers to civil society and victims' organizations, and even less to individuals" (Harff and Gurr, 2018, p92). Strauss promotes the involvement of civil society and shares his experience from establishing village community committees in Mauritania. The model was used to prevent identity-based conflict and violence. Identity formation in local contexts can consist of complex processes not only grounded in existing group identities of ethnic, religious or tribal lines, but also rumours and conspiracy theories and past histories of violence and socio-political affiliation may raise tensions between groups. Social media and other internet-based mass communication available even in rural areas have also eased the way of disseminating radicalisation ideas and rumours regarding targeted groups. Strauss show how these aspects together need to be responded on the local level by actors with deep knowledge in the local context. Another research looking at the role of local nonstate actors in preventing mass atrocities is the work of Stephen McLoughlin who uses the case of Zambia to raise understanding on the relation of risk and resilience (2014a). McLoughlin proposes a framework which puts greater emphasis on local actors and on local resilience to prevent atrocities. He points out a general overemphasis on the identification of root causes and that there is a lack of research considering "what is already happening in such places to prevent conflict and mass atrocities" (McLoughlin, 2014b, p420). McLoughlin's theoretical perspective is in a useful way broadening the understanding of mass atrocity prevention and will be applied on the collected material of this study, the framework will be further presented in the following chapter (4.1).

Yehuda Bauer highlights the necessity of understanding "sources, development, and importance of ideology in human behaviour" (Harff and Gurr, 2018, p18). Ideology has often been developed or used in order to justify mass murder and religious ideology has been one of the major factors in the development of exclusionary ideologies. The relation between religion and mass atrocities is not uncomplicated, but it should neither be ignored. Bauer argues that "murderous religious fanaticism can often only be met by non- or anti-radicals of the same religious ideologies justifying extreme exclusion of non-believers" (Ibid., p20-21). Warning signs, such as hate propaganda has to be countered in an early preventative response (Bellamy et al., 2016). An interesting perspective for understanding features of dangerous speech and the ideologies behind, is the model¹⁴ presented by Leader Maynard and Benesch for understanding how the force of a speech to encourage violence is a product of both context and content (2016).

The presence of dangerous religious ideologies and speeches raises questions regarding the right to freedom of religion and belief and its relation to other rights. The former UN Special Rapporteur on freedom of religion and belief, Heiner Bielefeldt, argues that the right is threatened on some of its most basic human rights principles: universalism, freedom, equality, and indivisibility (2013). Bielefeldt claims that there is an urgent need of conceptual clarity in order to defend and strengthen freedom of religion and belief. His contribution will be introduced in the next chapter (4.3) as a theoretical perspective that will guide the analysis of this study by adding a distinct human rights perspective.

As we can see from this section, there is a need to deepen understanding of atrocity prevention, the involvement of local nonstate actors and the countering of dangerous ideology and propaganda. The next section will focus on research involving religion and religious actors in issues of peace and conflict.

¹⁴ The model systematizes context by referring to the speaker, the audience, the socio-historical environment, and the means of dissemination. The content in dangerous ideology can be understood by six justificatory mechanisms: dehumanization, guilt attribution, threat construction, the destruction of alternatives, virtue talk, and future-bias. For attributing this perspective on religious leaders, it is of value to consider both the platform, mandate and audience they hold, as well as the ideology and message they present. (Leader Maynard and Benesch, 2016)

3.2. Involvement of Religious actors

Even if the involvement of nonstate actors such as religious leaders in atrocity prevention is debated and often promoted, there is an insignificant amount of literature analysing how it can be put into practice. The issue of involving religious leaders has been more prevalent in the closely related field of peacebuilding, which therefore also will be considered in this literature review. Religious actors are increasingly involved in peacebuilding initiatives and their role is discussed in the academic debate, within a distinct field concerning *religious peacebuilding*¹⁵. Steen-Johnsen recognises that "in the past two decades, both governments and organizations has funded and supported such initiatives in the Balkans, Sudan, Pakistan, Great Lakes and Haiti, to mention a few" (2017, p1).

There are experiences from local identity-based conflict prevention where religion have positive impact by "bringing people together based on joint values similar to those reflected in human rights obligations, and offering concrete solutions in conformity with religious traditions" (Harff and Gurr, 2018, p97). From sixteen different case studies of religious leaders and actors in peace initiatives, David Little argues that involving religion in peacebuilding may contribute with several perspectives; by bringing a theology of peace, by giving trustworthiness and mandate for agency, and by helping to switch focus from the violent aspects of religion in conflicts (Little, 2007). Harpviken and Røislien argue that religious actors can be involved in peacebuilding by their normative systems for promoting ethical behaviour, by using their organisational structures as channels for mobilisation and communication, and finally by the use of religious identities for creating common grounds between groups in conflict (2008). A study based on field research in Uganda and relating to the ARLPI initiative, concern the role of faith-based development actors in peacebuilding (Nicholas, 2014). Nicholas points out that faith actors can take the role of peacebuilding through various roles: Facilitation by bringing groups together in meetings, monitoring and observation of human rights abuses, advocating for a peace initiative, socialisation by creating new social norms, inter-faith cohesion by bringing different faith actors together, protection of individuals, and finally as mediators in conflicts.

A recent example of successful involvement of religious actors is the work of a Catholic NGO, the Community of Sant'Egidio, in Central African Republic (CAR). Founded in 1968, Sant'Egidio has since then been active in peace processes around the world and has consultative status with the ECOSOC. They began activities in CAR in early 2000s and was able to reach a peace agreement by negotiating with various armed groups. Bartoli & Garofalo recognises the successful visit of Pope Francis in 2015 as having positive effects on political life and two years later an agreement for peace in CAR was signed in Rome (Harff and Gurr, 2018). The Community of Sant'Égidio's approach in peace processes confirms that stable peace can only come from inside the conflicting communities, and from outside powerful actors. When conflicting parties by cost-benefit calculation find peace preferable to violent alternatives, a peaceful solution can be found.

Even at situations where religion is considered to be a part of the conflict dynamics, such as the case in CAR, it is a simplified solution to ascribe religion the source of violence. To distinguish sources to conflicts is complex and religion is often used by ethno-political leaders in order to generate conflicts and to mobilize support (Gurr, 1996, p74). Harpviken and Røislien claims that religion has to be understood as part of a larger societal context, where it both is affected and shaped by political, cultural and economic processes (2008). Brewer, Higgins and Teeney presents in the article *Religion and Peacemaking: A Conceptualization* additional perspectives on the relationship between religion and peacemaking (Brewer et al., 2010). They argue that religious actors can potentially have positive impact in peace initiatives, but it is essential to understand their position in relation to civil society and

¹⁵ Religious peacebuilding can be described as "actions taken by people acting with an expressed religious mandate to constructively and non-violently prevent, reduce or transform inter-group conflict" (Neufeldt, 2011, p346). In practice, the difference between atrocity prevention and peacebuilding might be subtle, but the starting points differ. The research center L'Osservatorio describes the nexus between peacebuilding and atrocity prevention: "While atrocity prevention is rooted in the context of accountability, encompassing international criminal justice and human rights law, peacebuilding stems from conflict resolution and reconciliation frameworks." (L'Osservatorio, 2018).

state politics. Their framework will also be used as a theoretical perspective in this study and contributes to analysing religious actors' involvement, by relating their position to structural factors in society and to important social spaces.

3.3. Conflict and Religion in Uganda

Research and academic analyses regarding the more recent conflicts in Uganda was initially focused on "political exclusion and denial of the human rights of the people in the region" (Jordhus-Lier and Braathen, 2013, p114). Later research has analysed underlying factors for violent conflicts and also regarding how violent conflicts affect aspects of identity and trust. A study by Rohner et al. has for example revealed how the intensity of fighting has a significant negative effect on trust toward other people from Uganda (2013). When the respondents own ethnic group is involved, the effect is particularly strong, and people experiencing violent conflicts tend to identify themselves to a greater extent with their own ethnic group rather than to other identity-markers, such as Ugandan nationality.

The lower level of trust toward other groups has also negative impact on economic growth and is a risk factor for continuing conflicts. Studies on conflict in Uganda has been focusing on the effect of conflict on individual expectations (Bozzoli et al., 2011), the economic consequences of being internally displaced (Fiala, 2015), household effects (Deininger, 2003), and the negative impact of conflict on agricultural cooperatives (Hill et al., 2015). There is also recent research focusing on post conflict reestablishment and resilience of youth (Vindevogel et al., 2015) and women (Corbin and Hall, 2019). An interesting aspect for this study from the article by Corbin & Hall is that social support from church and religious activities within communities was considered as an important protective factor for wellbeing.

Reuss & Titeca analysed the recent violence in Western Uganda, a conflict which has been described by the Ugandan government to build on ethno-nationalist mobilisation by the Bakonzo ethnic group (2017a). Their analysis show however that ethnicity often is used as "an outward layer beneath which there is a host of historical, socio-economic and political conflict dynamics" (Ibid. p131). They argue that the conflict is surrounded by other problems and the government's failure to address root causes. These conflict drivers are in fact similarly found in other communities of Uganda: land conflicts, access to public office, natural resource exploitation, youth unemployment, ethnic tensions, perceptions of marginalisation, traditional institutions. Other conflict drivers are key elements of political culture in Uganda, such as the involvement of security agencies, political manipulation and patronage politics. Another article by Reuss & Titeca regarding the current political situation in Uganda highlights the changing demographic, the fact that 78 % of the population are below 30 years of age and therefore born during Museveni's rule (2017b). This creates new challenges for the NRM regime and the "liberation argument" is not impressing a young population who never has experienced nationwide turmoil. Key regime strategies include personalisation, patronage and coercion clothed in the militarisation of civil administration. These strategies could be motivated for older generations from a liberation argument and of national peace and stability. Today, it instead causes a dangerous situation in a country with an increasingly urban young population struggling with unemployment, lack of economic growth and unimpressed by historical liberation narratives.

Jordhus-Lier & Braathen has studied churches and peacebuilding in Eastern DRC and Northern Uganda with reference to the peacebuilding efforts by ARLPI (2013). They claim that the field of peace and democracy with a focus on religious civil society actors are heavily under-researched. They emphasise how this is particularly unfortunate in a conflict-ridden region as the Great Lakes in Africa, where religious actors are considered the strongest civil society institutions. Their study shows that religious networks has primarily been effective in *witnessing* of atrocities and in the initial phase of peace mobilisation: "Church networks gave voice to the people in Northern Uganda, particularly in the Acholi region, and thus helped to establish legitimate civil force for peace from within" (Ibid., p120). Stronger mobilisation across faith communities and across state borders are instrumental for peacebuilding activities. Local level mobilisation for raising awareness and changing attitudes is jeopardised when leaders fail to stay independent from local conflict dynamics. The DRC case shows how a more fragmented church landscape with a failure to establish unity between Catholic and Pentecostal churches circumscribes the ability to play a constructive role in conflict resolution, since churches are more affiliated and interwoven to local conflicts by religious and ethnic ties.

Academic writing on churches relation to anti-gay law debate in Uganda has been prevalent.¹⁶ Alava is attributing a rising interest of scholarly work on homosexuality in Africa to "the simultaneous increase in activism by lesbian and gay rights groups on the one hand, and the intense Pentecostalisation of African public spheres on the other" (2017, p3). Although Alava problematizes the silence of Northern Uganda churches on the topic of homosexuality, she also mentions how "the Catholic Church has created a pervasive narrative of peace, forgiveness and unity in Northern Uganda – a theological narrative which emphasizes the humanness of all human beings, regardless of ethnicity" (Ibid., p16). There can however also be a negative side effect from the peace narrative of religious leaders. When peace is prioritised over justice, the state's silencing of opposition leaders is somehow accepted due to the fear of violent outbreaks (Alava and Ssentongo, 2016).

¹⁶ See Alava (2017) for a research summary on anti-gay law debate in Uganda.

4. Theoretical perspectives

In this chapter, the theoretical perspectives are presented. These perspectives were derived from the literature review and were chosen for their ability to inform the analysis from three different angles. The first perspective present relevant insight on atrocity prevention, the second perspective will help gain an understanding of involvement of religious leaders, while the third perspective will give vital comprehension of human rights issues at stake. The theoretical perspectives are used for analysing the collected material and are applied mainly in the theoretical discussion of the results (Chapter 7). By discussing the results from the lens of theoretical perspectives, we will gain further comprehension of the involvement of religious leaders in atrocity prevention in Uganda.

4.1. Framework for Understanding the Prevention of Mass Atrocities

Stephen McLoughlin is critical of the commonly accepted concept of structural prevention, defined as "the identification and addressing of 'root causes'" (McLoughlin, 2014b, p408). McLoughlin's critique concerns the implicated idea that long-term root causes inevitably lead to outbreaks of violence. In fact there are many examples of countries with a high prevalence of root causes to mass atrocities, where violent outbreaks still haven't occurred. This leads McLoughlin to ask "what coping and support mechanisms exist – at a local and national level – to manage the risk of mass atrocities in societies?" (Ibid., p421). The other critique regarding structural prevention is the tendency of external diagnosis and prognosis. Just like the doctor identifies illness on patients and prescribe treatment, mainly international actors have decided what is counted as root causes and how to handle them. Local contexts and actors have thus been downgraded and structural prevention, neglecting local context and how communities mitigate risk by managing diversity, is prevalent both in policymaking and research.

McLoughlin and his Framework for Understanding the Prevention of Mass Atrocities is extending the concept of structural prevention to not only manage risk factors, but to also build resilience in local communities. Resilience is defined as a society's ability to resist and recover from threat. Incorporating resilience into prevention means taking into consideration the capacity of local and national actors to develop strategies for mitigating risk, in states that are exposed for risk factors¹⁷ (or root causes) of mass atrocities. These root causes of social, political and economic dimensions are mitigated "through strategies that foster social cohesion, good governance and relative economic strength" (Ibid., p427). In societies characterised by ethnic and religious diversity, identity-based division may be mitigated by a strong civil society that foster social cohesion. Resilience can be expressed through religious organisations, human rights groups, unions and other groups taking initiatives that promotes inclusive societies, address injustices or provides support to vulnerable people. Civil society may also foster resilience of political dimensions by promoting initiatives for good governance, just institutions and democratic systems with inclusive leadership that counter identitybased divisions. A functioning democracy with active opposition parties is considered as the strongest protective factor. The economic aspect of resilience is fostered by economic growth, trade openness and equal economic opportunities.

McLoughlin's contribution to the understanding of atrocity prevention is very useful in this study where we look at local nonstate actors. It will add reflection on the local initiatives relation to external actors in defining root causes and possibilities for prevention. The perspective of looking at both risk factors and mitigating factors will help in answering the questions of how religious leaders are involved, by giving a broad definition of atrocity prevention that also promotes local preventative initiatives that traditionally has not been connected to atrocity prevention.

¹⁷ For a list of risk factors for atrocity crimes, see Stephen Mcloughlin's contribution in section 1.1.

4.2. Religion and Peacemaking: A Conceptualisation

Brewer, Higgins and Teeney present a conceptual framework for theorizing the connection of religion and peacemaking in conflicts where religion is involved (Brewer et al., 2010). They point out that although peace is a central theme in all world faiths, the academic discussion has primarily focused on the connection of religion and violence. But religion can neither be seen as irrelevant, only considered as a risk factor for conflict and extremism, nor exclusively seen as a factor for promoting peace. Brewer et al.'s framework tries to add understanding of the ambiguous relationship between religion and peace, and by what mechanisms "religion transforms itself from a site of conflict into one of reconciliation" (Ibid., p1021). They argue that the relationship between religion and peacemaking must be understood "within a nexus of religion, civil society, and state relations" (Ibid., p1022). The impact of civil society, including religious actors, should not be romanticised, but instead analysed for greater comprehension of their ability to be involved in processes for positive peace.

Promoting positive peace is understood not only as limiting the use of violence, but also stimulating a just and equal society and to countering structural discrimination. The ability of religious actors to promote positive peace can also be understood from the ability of bonding or bridging social capital, the former promotes an exclusive solidarity while the latter encourages inclusive solidarity. The ability of bridging social capital is seen as essential for promoting positive peace and thus bringing social healing to societies by linking diverse groups together. The bonding capital of religion is in general very high while the bridging capital is considered to be less prevalent. To comprehend the ability of religious actors in bridging social capital, Brewer et al. proposes the distinction of four strategic social spheres of civil society: intellectual, institutional, market, and political spaces.

Intellectual spaces give room for rethinking conflicts and to envision peace. Alternative visions can be championed and crucial issues to be handled might be articulated. In institutional spaces, these alternative visions of peace are incarnated and the civil society groups can thus be role models of a healed society. Market spaces mobilize "cultural, social and material resources" from local and global networks in order to promote the visions of peace (Ibid., p1025). Political spaces are areas where civil society groups are involved directly or indirectly in peace negotiation or policy formation. It can concern both national arenas as well as international cooperation for promoting peace initiatives.

Religious actors need to occupy these spaces in order to advocate for positive peace. It is also crucial for the peacebuilding capacity of religious actors, to represent "trustworthiness, legitimacy and relationship-building skills with other civil society groups *outside* contested sacred spaces" (Ibid., p1033). This position of trustworthiness is especially problematic to achieve in cases where religion is playing a central part of the conflict, but by entering social spaces in civil society together with other peacemakers, religious actors may bring a faith factor to peacemaking.

This perspective can give insights and inform the analysis of the relations between religious leaders and other significant actors in society such as civil society or the state. The strategic social spaces will also be useful in analysing to what extent religious leaders are involved in atrocity prevention, as well as understanding what facilitators and barriers there are when it comes to occupying these spaces.

4.3. Freedom of Religion or Belief: A Conceptualisation

This section build on the article *Misperceptions of Freedom of Religion or Belief* by Heiner Bielefeldt which adds theoretical understanding of religion and basic human rights principles relevant to discuss in relation to the involvement of religious leaders in Uganda (2013). The right to freedom of religion is articulated under article 18 in both UDHR and ICCPR and it guarantees freedom of thought, conscience and religion or belief. Article 18 (3) in ICCPR include limitations on the freedom to manifest religion when it is necessary in order to "protect public safety, order, health, or morals or the fundamental rights and freedoms of others (United Nations General Assembly, 1966). Bielefeldt argues that the right is threatened regarding some fundamental human rights principles.

Religion is a matter of people's ultimate concern in life. The *freedom* of human beings is a consequence of their inherent dignity and a respect for their ability to find their own ways in life. But the reality is that state policies often restrict human beings from free choice, communication and practice. State imposed interreligious harmony can be a barrier to freedom of religion. Often it can be

motivated by its peacekeeping functions, but restrictions to non-coercive efforts to promote one's faith and to persuade people to adopt that faith, is a violation of the freedom of human beings to change religion or belief. The freedom of religion and belief is meant to protect the freedom of human beings and not to protect religions from criticism.

A threat to the *universal* character of freedom of religion and belief, is restriction of religious diversity by using narrow definitions of accepted religions. Bielefeldt argues that "a human rights approach to freedom of religion or belief must start with respecting the self-understanding of human beings in this field" and states that a broad understanding¹⁸ is necessary to acknowledge the diversity of individuals (Ibid., p37).

The principles of *equality* and *non-discrimination* directly follows from the idea of inherent dignity for all human beings. Equality, together with freedom, is fundamental to the human rights concept. Equality is not in conflict with diversity, instead, a pluralistic society is a prerequisite for a society characterised by freedom and equality. Non-discrimination is equality in practice and requires the additional policies of state neutrality, political secularism and the mechanism of reasonable accommodation. In order to guarantee freedom of religion for all, "the state should not identify itself with one particular religion or belief and, in this specific sense, should remain neutral" (Ibid., p52).

The indivisibility of rights is imperative for a holistic human rights agenda and conflicts between different rights must be examined and monitored. Freedom of expression is sometimes considered as conflicting the freedom of religion, by giving room for defamation of religions or by blaspheming laws. But Bielefeldt argues that hate speech should not primarily be restricted, but instead be countered with alternative speech. Freedom of religion and belief can in fact only develop in societies with freedom of expression, and freedom of expression is dependent on the freedom of thought. Gender equality is another possible area of conflict in relation to freedom of religion. But the fact that women may suffer from discrimination in religious communities does not imply an inevitable opposition to religious customs, otherwise multiple forms of discrimination may face women in the intersection of religion and gender. LGBTQ rights may also meet opposition by religious actors. Even if people have the right to express their religiously motivated perspectives on sexual orientation and family life, freedom of religion cannot legitimize the denial of LGBTQ rights or promoting discriminatory legislation. But the internal autonomy of religious institutions should be respected, and "the prohibition of coercing anyone to actively participate in practices that are in opposition to their deep, personal convictions must also be strictly observed in the application of non-discrimination agendas" (Ibid., p66).

Bielefeldt concludes that a holistic understanding of human rights has to be defended even in times when there is serious conflict between different freedom of religion and other human rights claims. It is also imperative that religious communities accept that the benefits of freedom of religion and belief can be equally claimed by other groups of society. The fear of diversity is a real threat for peaceful societies, but the understanding of human dignity is a possible starting point in the quest for a consensus on issues of people's ultimate concern.

This final theoretical perspective will give a distinct human rights perspective to the analysis of religious leaders' involvement in atrocity prevention. Bielefeldt's perspective will be relevant in understanding conflicts between different rights and different groups in society.

¹⁸ This goes in line with *General Comment No. 22: The Right to Freedom of Thought, Conscience and Religion* (*Art. 18*), U.N. Doc. CCPR/C/21/Rev.1/Add.4 (20 July 1993)

5. Method

This chapter will present methodological discussions and methods used in the study. It will begin by presenting the lifeworld approach which informed the choice of method in terms of data collection and analysis. The chapter also contain sections for discussing ethical considerations as well as questions on source criticism, objectivity, reliability and validity.

5.1. A Lifeworld Approach

In the quest of exploring how religious leaders are involved in atrocity prevention and the possibilities for increased involvement, this study takes a lifeworld approach. The lifeworld perspective is a central concept within phenomenology and intends to understand the participants' experiences and to interpret the meaning attached to them. This includes the assumption that "the important reality is what people perceive it to be" (Kvale and Brinkmann, 2015, p30). In order to involve religious leaders in atrocity prevention, we have to gain understanding of the leaders' situation. Jan Bengtsson defines the lifeworld as being "everything that is possible to experience and do for a particular individual /.../ the lifeworld is neither an objective world in itself, nor a subjective world, but something in between" (2013, p6).

The lifeworld approach is an explorative approach where we want to research new worlds, and this demands creativity in the choice of method (Ibid.). Qualitative methods are more suitable in contextualized phenomena as in the case of involving religious leaders in atrocity prevention in Uganda (Kvale and Brinkmann, 2015). Since atrocity prevention can take many different forms and are difficult to observe in a specific situation, observation was not an alternative for this limited study. Instead, the study used semi-structured interviews, which is suitable for clarification of the subject's experience and to provide knowledge of perceptions and attitudes (Ibid.).

The study examined possibilities for involving religious leaders, by searching for facilitators and barriers. With a lifeworld approach, these barriers and facilitators are neither objective nor subjective, but are seen as the meaning and value that leaders experience and express through their lives. Meaning interpretation requires the interpreter to be knowledgeable and having sensitivity toward the interview topic. This pre-understanding is necessary for the lifeworld research, but it can "never [be] the same as already understanding it in advance (Bengtsson, 2013, p8).

A criticism of this method could be that there may be discrepancies between what the religious leaders say and how they actually act, or between their inner attitudes and the values they present in the interviews. People are more likely to describe an ideal of their work and might be unaware of what they actually do (Ibid.). This risk was mitigated by an awareness in the interview situation as well as by searching for specific examples and experiences from the respondent's everyday world. Combining interviews with observations would also give a richer material on this matter, but as I have stated above, it was not possible for this study.

5.2. Data Collection

During eight weeks of field study in Uganda during March and April 2019, data was collected by twelve semi-structured lifeworld interviews according to Kvale & Brinkmann (2015). Interviews were conducted with religious leaders from four different denominations (4 Anglican, 4 Pentecostal, 2 Catholic, and 2 Muslim respondents). Participants included representatives at the national level of each denomination but also leaders of local congregations in Kampala as well as in the Lamwo district in northern Uganda. This selection was decided strategically in order to explore the topic from various aspects of religious leadership (Bengtsson, 2013). The four most common faith denominations in Uganda were examined, and the different contexts of urban Kampala in the South and the rural Lamwo in the North also makes sure that different perspectives within the denominations were explored.

Participants that matched the selection were sought by contacting national administration and leadership of each denomination. With this procedure, there was a risk that national administration

would promote participants who shared their view on the matter. I was aware of this risk and tried to mitigate it by seeking various and opposite opinions in the dialogue with other leaders. It should also be noted that the leaders who accepted to be interviewed thereby showed an initial interest for the research subject. There were leaders who declined an interview and cases where there didn't seem to be enough interest for the research matter. In that way, it is probable that those leaders who were interviewed in the study also are more interested in the topic of peace and preventing atrocities than the average religious leader. It is also worth noting that some of the leaders at national level also worked directly with issues of concern in this study through umbrella organisations such as the UJCC and IRC. In one of the interviews there were two respondents, including one representative from the UJCC. Even if these organisations were not of major concern in the study, these perspectives added some extra insight. For an overview of the participants, see table 1 below.

Participant	Denomination/Organisation	Leadership/Setting
Respondent 1	Anglican	National level
Respondent 2	Anglican	National level
Respondent 3	Pentecostal	National level
Respondent 4	Catholic/UJCC	National level
Respondent 5	Anglican	Local/Urban
Respondent 6	Catholic	Local/Urban
Respondent 7	Pentecostal	Local/Urban
Respondent 8	Pentecostal	Local/Rural
Respondent 9	Pentecostal	Local/Rural
Respondent 10	Anglican	Local/Rural
Respondent 11	Muslim	Local/Rural
Respondent 12	Muslim/IRC	National level

Table 1. Participants

Altogether twelve in-depth interviews were conducted, one with each of the participants, lasting between 28 and 68 minutes. The interviews took place mainly in the leader's office or at their home. Some of them took place in neutral places such as a café or at a guest house. One of the interviews was dependent on an interpreter, the others were conducted directly in English. Language barriers were not perceived to affect the interviews, except for the one dependent on interpretation, even if some of the informants sometimes had to make an effort in order to find the right words since English was not always their first language.

Before the beginning of the interviews, a presentation of the study purpose and method was given together with information regarding confidentiality and audio recording. Each participant received and signed a document for informed consent (Appendix 1). The semi-structured lifeworld interview is less strict and can be regarded as an engaged conversation. An interview guide (Appendix 2) was used consisting of introductory, thematic, probing and summarizing questions. Open-ended questions were used derived from the research questions, literature review and also inspired by the thematic recommendations for involving religious leaders presented in the Plan of Action.

The interviews sought understanding of the meaning of central themes of the respondents' lifeworld by encouraging descriptive and specific expositions. Meaning was sought by openness as a "deliberate naiveté" and by trying to obtain precise and nuanced descriptions of specific situations and events instead of seeking general opinions (Kvale and Brinkmann, 2015). This was done by interpreting and seeking confirmation or disconfirmation in dialogue with the respondent. The explorative character meant that focus was on the parts that turned out to be most relevant for the respondent and therefore not all questions were included in each interview. This way, the interviews focused on certain themes without directing toward specific opinions. This approach means that the concepts used in this study might not be known by the leaders and therefore not explicitly mentioned

in the interviews, but the meanings obtained from the interview material was further analysed and discussed through the theoretical perspectives.

5.3. Data Analysis

The method of choice for analysing the material was thematic analysis according to Braun & Clarke (2006), following their six phases of analysis (see table 2). Thematic analysis is described as "a method for identifying, analysing and reporting patterns (themes) within data" (Braun and Clarke, 2006, p87). Thematic analysis was chosen for its ability to generate themes by a theoretically flexible approach, but with clear and distinct guidelines for how to conduct analysis. It suits the data generated in this study with an explorative lifeworld approach where the theoretical perspectives were considered in the final phase of analysis.

Phase		Description of the process
1	Familiarising yourself with your data	Transcribing data (if necessary), reading and rereading the data, noting down initial ideas
2	Generating initial codes	Coding interesting features of the data in a systematic fashion across the entire data set, collating data relevant to each code
3	Searching for themes	Collating codes into potential themes, gathering all data relevant to each potential theme
4	Reviewing themes	Checking if the themes work in relation to the coded extracts (Level 1) and the entire data set (Level 2), generating a thematic 'map' of the analysis
5	Defining and naming themes	Ongoing analysis to refine the specifics of each theme, and the overall story the analysis tells, generating clear definitions and names for each theme
6	Producing the report	The final opportunity for analysis. Selection of vivid, compelling extract examples, final analysis of selected extracts, relating back of the analysis to the research question and literature, producing a scholarly report of the analysis

Table 2. Phases of thematic	analysis (Braun	i and Clarke, 2	2006, p87).

The recorded interviews were listened to several times and most of the material was transcribed word for word. That meant that a majority of the content was fully transcribed while parts that was considered as irrelevant for this study were summarised. The analysis of the empirical data can be described as a nonlinear and iterative process. Interesting features of the data were searched, coded and condensed until key themes and sub-themes emerged. Meaning was derived from explicit statements as well as by interpreting the manifest content in order to find a latent meaning in the text. Coding of themes was primarily data-driven and not theory-driven, but the research questions was considered in order to framing and naming the themes in the categories of facilitators and barriers.

The data was analysed from three contexts of interpretation by increasing the level of abstraction from the participant's own descriptions (Kvale and Brinkmann, 2015). The first context is selfunderstanding and this means generating initial codes from the informant's self-understanding. The second context of interpretation is a critical common-sense understanding and extends beyond the self-understanding to interpret the meaning of their statements. The third context, theoretical understanding, includes theoretical perspectives for interpreting the meaning of the participants' statements. The presentation of the data analysis will include one chapter with results (Chapter 6), presenting the themes and sub-themes that emerged following the two first contexts of interpretation. The results chapter will include extracts to clarify and validate the themes but will have limited references to theory. The second part of presenting the data analysis contain a discussion (Chapter 7) of the material derived from the third context of interpretation, which included the three theoretical perspectives in the analysis.

5.4. Ethical Considerations

The study involved individuals and there are ethical considerations that need to be addressed. For this purpose, the study considered the principles of *Good research practice* by Vetenskapsrådet, including the concepts of anonymity and confidentiality (2017). Interviews were also conducted according to the Uganda National Council for Science and Technology (UNCST) principles of respect for persons, beneficence, non-maleficence and justice (UNCST, 2014). The participants were prior to the interview informed verbally and in writing about the study, about confidentiality, the right not to answer specific questions and that they could quit the interview at any time. They signed the informed consent form (Appendix 1) according to UNCST National Guidelines for Research involving Humans as Research Participants. All data is kept confidential and stored in a de-identified form. No names are used in the presentation. Still, several people were involved in selection of interviewees and therefor total anonymity cannot be offered. However, there are no obvious risks or negative consequences related to participating in the interviews.

A comfortable interview setting was promoted by the dialogical interview character. For this purpose, it was an advantage that the researcher in this case also was a religious leader himself, and could promote a sense of understanding. Also, the fact that the religious leaders can be considered as elites in their community and that the interviews were conducted at their "home ground", usually their office or home, could also contribute to counteract the power asymmetry of the interview situation (Kvale and Brinkmann, 2015).

5.5. Discussion on Source Criticism, Objectivity, Reliability and Validity

The principles of *source criticism* have been applied for the various kinds of sources applied in this study, including academic writings, official documents and reports, journalistic articles, various internet sources as well as the interview material. The method of source analysis include the four criteria regarding time, dependence, authenticity and bias (Leth and Thurén, 2000). Leth & Thurén also raise awareness of how different worldviews somewhat makes sources biased. This perspective is important for this study since sources from different cultures with different worldviews are reviewed. Critical assessment of a source is with this perspective including an attempt to determine the worldview from which it comes and how it might affect the presented material (Ibid., 2000).

It is also of importance to consider my own role as a researcher in order to strive for a *reflexive* objectivity in relation to the production of knowledge (Kvale and Brinkmann, 2015). Kvale & Brinkmann raises awareness of how ties to groups in subject for the research risk to affect the researcher by closely identifying with the participants. For mitigating this risk it is important to remain at a professional distance and not "going native" by only reporting from the participants perspectives (Ibid., 2015). For me as a religious leader myself, a Pentecostal pastor in Sweden, it was important to reflect regarding my own role in the research. First, I consider my own background and understanding as an asset for the research subject. An understanding of theology, faith and religion is fundamental when relating to and trying to understand religious leaders. My background, including previous experiences of living in central Africa and interviewing of religious leaders in DRC¹⁹ was also an asset for relating to the participants, by promoting a sense of understanding and dialogue in the interview setting. The method with maximal openness in questions and adopting a "deliberate naiveté" helped me to be aware of my own position and preunderstanding. For remaining a critical perspective and not identifying too close to the participants, it is important to have an awareness also in the analysis and presentation of the material. For this purpose, the three contexts of interpretation presented under data analysis were also helpful.

Generalization is not possible in explorative lifeworld studies due to the insufficient number of participants (Bengtsson, 2013). In regard to reliability and validity, this study follows the argumentation of Kvale & Brinkmann by relating the concepts to qualitative interview research (2015). *Reliability* is considered to have both methodological and moral aspects by which the trustworthiness

¹⁹ In 2011 I conducted the study "Pastor at War", consisting of interviews with Pentecostal pastors in Eastern DRC regarding their experiences of pastoring at times of armed conflicts.

of the research is reflected upon. One way to promote high reliability is by avoiding leading questions in the interviews and to let the respondents clarify and deepen their answers by follow up questions. This is also reflected by the choice of presenting the results of the interviews in a separate chapter, and presenting the theoretical interpretations in the discussion chapter. *Validity* is understood as "quality of craftsmanship" which implement validation as a quality control in all the stages of the research and not only towards the end product. This include having a valid research design and methods responding to the aim of the study, validating during the interviews, validating the logics of interpretation during analysing, and finally in regard to how the final report presents the main findings of the study.

6. Results

In this chapter I will present the results from the thematic analysis. Three main themes with respective sub-themes were derived from the material. The first theme gives an understanding of the various kinds of conflicts on different levels that religious leaders are related to. The two other main themes presents facilitators and barriers for involving religious leaders in activities for atrocity prevention. Extracts will be used to clarify and illustrate the themes, the anonymised material will be referred to as interview 1-12. A thematic presentation is applied since the leaders' narratives were surprisingly homogeneous. The results will paint a shared picture of how religious leaders in Uganda experienced the topic, but important differences will also be presented where they have occurred.

The results will be further analysed and discussed in relation to the theoretical perspectives in the next chapter.

6.1. Character of conflicts

To answer the first research question regarding how religious leaders in Uganda are involved in atrocity prevention, I will begin by presenting some of the leaders' experiences. During the interviews, it became evident that religious leaders relates to conflicts of different characters and on various levels. The specific leader's personal experience and descriptions could of course differ depending on their own position. National level leadership did to a greater extent relate to and share experiences of large-scale conflicts of national or regional character. They also had experiences of relating to international community and donors for handling conflicts. Leaders of local congregations did to a larger extent relate to micro-level conflicts and expressed a stronger connection with the grass roots of society. Leaders of urban congregations related to issues of cultural division with a rapidly changing and messy context in urban settlements, while leaders in rural Lamwo district related to a culturally more homogenous situation but with conflicts toward external groups such as refugees. There is a tendency that religious leaders of local congregations are less interested or capable than national level leaders to think from a wider societal perspective and to take preventative actions in the wider community. Local leaders tend to focus more on their local congregation and their local challenges. A strength in this local perspective is that they to a larger extent tend to identify with especially vulnerable groups.

6.1.1. Socio-Political challenges

Socio-political challenges are here defined as various factors of social and political life that creates challenges and tensions in society. One of the recurring themes in the interviews is the experience of cultural division. Cultural division is related to the ethnic plurality of Uganda, but it also includes groups of other nationalities living in the country. The respondents gave examples which related to group identity, language barriers and specific cultural customs. One example of the latter concerned the cattle rustling of the Karamajong people; they believe that all cows belongs to them, and that other groups therefore holds them illegally.

Examples were given regarding how cultural division made it impossible to have fellowship together at church, it could affect relationship between students at school, and communication between different groups broke down since one group despised the language of another group. It was also described how tribal conflicts in surrounding countries have been transferred to Uganda by refugees. Conflicts in Rwanda, Burundi and DRC affected migrant communities in Uganda and migrants from South Sudan and Rwanda could be met with hostility due to historic experiences of violence toward Ugandans.

One respondent described how strong social ties at the local village level is limiting the number of serious conflicts. But the context is rapidly changing fuelled by migration. Erected refugee camps are transforming the conditions for rural communities in northern Uganda and migration is making urban settlements even more pluralistic. Cultural differences create a growing tension between different

groups. Whether it is formed by refugee crises, urbanisation or globalisation, religious leaders in Uganda are relating to multiple kinds of cultural division between people.

The leaders also described how ethnic and other socio-political causes often are intertwined in forming division between groups. Poverty is considered as a risk factor and especially unemployment among youth tends to turn into despair and violent outbreaks. Other aspects that creates tension and possibly violence is the generational gap and unwillingness of older leadership to step aside and make room for the next generation. This generational division are present both in religious and political leadership. Some leaders also mentioned experiences of how the young generation more often uses social media to create attention for political issues with the risk of the disseminating false or inciting messages. Conflicts and inciting messages are increased in periods of political campaigns. One respondent described how many underlying differences may affect election violence.

Such instances are there, probably at times on an ethnic basis. For various reasons, these political circumstances are sparked off by those underlying differences. We find people, communities, having problems with land. And then people look for an opportunity, time to act violently. At times they are silent but waiting for an opportune time to spark off violence. Yes, such instances has been there time to time. Most especially during the election times. (Interview 4, 2019)

On a question regarding experiences of conflicts and incitement to violence, the respondent explained how ethnicity and land conflicts among other factors may be underlying causes for election violence. Low confidence in political and judicial systems is also mentioned. Another respondent mentioned how political tension is present between different regions in the country. Experience of disadvantage in issues of development and representation at significant political posts are seen as risk factors for violence.

The leaders described that they often are involved in mediation and conflict resolution when it comes to conflicts at both national, regional and local levels. They are also frequently consulted in conflicts of personal²⁰ character at the local community level. Even if these issues are far from large scale violent conflicts and atrocity crimes, this shows how religious leaders in Uganda are involved and influential at various levels, from grass roots to national issues. Religious leaders expressed how people often have higher trust in their ability to handle the issues than they have toward other institutions of society, such as police or judicial systems.

The leaders express a desire to counter these various socio-political challenges, a willingness to respond to societal challenges of distrust and risk factors for atrocity crimes. Even if they in general don't express it in terms of atrocity prevention, they are involved in local level conflicts that risk evolve into large scale violence. This involvement is seen as a natural part of their role as religious leaders.

6.1.2. Religious division

The respondents also shared experiences of religious division. Some of the examples are inter-faith division while others can be categorised as intra-faith division. But the dividing lines between antagonistic groups may also be dependent on several other identity markers interwoven with each other. One example of how political and religious division may work together is related to the rebel movement ADF. Religious hate speech was disseminated by a political rebel movement striving for a Muslim leadership in the country.

One respondent answered a question regarding tension between groups by sharing a recent example of religious division and how the young generation often is involved in these instances.

²⁰ Personal conflicts that religious leaders handle concern for example land disputes between families, genderbased violence, mediation between spouses, or issues related to alcohol abuse.

Yeah, actually this last month I was in northern Uganda and was training a team of people. And the bishop in that area was attacked, his car was stoned by Muslims, who he had... Because he had, I think he had been talking things they did not want to hear. /.../ He says he was driving with his car with his driver and then some motorbike passed by them very fast. And it was a road with a lot of dust, so the guys hide in front of him. And they had threatened him previously on radio somehow and they threw a stone and his windscreen was smashed. So they had to drive on of course, afraid that they... Well I think there is a lot of hate. And that is also a concern for me who works with young people, I think it is nurtured from the young people, because these was not old people throwing stones. (Interview 2, 2019)

Tension between groups is nurtured among the younger generations. This leader, who works primarily with young people, also shared an experience he heard from Christian pupils whose teacher in a dominantly Muslim school regularly said things that was defamatory against Christians. The religious division in Uganda is nurtured by a culture of confronting each other, especially between Christians and Muslims.

Religious leaders may face religious division in various ways. Some of them are working actively in reducing tension. The respondents in this study also gave examples of how religious leaders may spark the tension by insensitive communication. Even others shared experiences of being targeted themselves. Often, it is the minority group in a certain area that have experiences of being targeted with derogatory or hateful messages. A Pentecostal leader in northern Uganda gave an example of the latter when especially Catholics were warning people for relating to the Pentecostals and naming them as coming from under water. The leader described how the "under water" concept is a description of being occult or demonised and used in order to disparage the Pentecostals. A Muslim leader mentions that they are used to being targeted with negative speeches: "Christians talking about Muslims in a negative way? That is normal. That is normal. I have heard it, to me it is normal." (Interview 12, 2019). Another Muslim leader gave an example of inciting or negative speeches that are addressed to the Muslim community over the radio. Non-Muslims can point out Muslims as being terrorists, connecting them with Al-Shabaab, the Somali Muslim extremists who have carried out actions of terrorism in Ugandan neighbour Kenya. "Someone can say that when he sees a Muslim, he is 'Al-Shabaab'. But we say, anyone can become Al-Shabaab, because not all Muslims are Al-Shabaab." (Interview 11, 2019)

Religious leaders can be a source of hateful and inciting words. As we have seen in previous chapters, preventing incitement to violence is an important aspect of atrocity prevention. Religious leaders have a platform that can be used to disseminate dangerous speech or to counter it. This aspect seems to be highly relevant in Uganda today and the following sections will present facilitators and barriers for the involvement of religious leaders in preventative actions.

6.2. Facilitators for involving religious leaders

6.2.1. Theology of human dignity

A major driver for religious leaders' involvement in issues of atrocity prevention is a theology for human dignity based on a common origin for human beings. The idea of all men being created by God is seen as a basis for unity and equality of all people. Faith is described as a motivation to act out of love to help others. One leader referred to this oneness of peoples of different nationalities on a question regarding how he related to South Sudanese refugees. The local population considered the refugees to be primitive, but the Pastor described how their divine origin is uniting them and should affect relations to the refugees.

What I as a pastor say is that God created man. God created man out of one person, from Adam. So if we are one, we are the children of God. /.../ We are one, we should not say that these people are bad people. (Interview 8, 2019)

Leaders from different denominations, both Christian and Muslim, motivated peaceful actions by relating to the common origin in God. A Muslim leader related his actions of promoting peace to be in line with the heart of God, and emphasised that both the Koran and the Bible encourages to not quarrel and fight one another. Even if faith can bring division between religious groups or toward other groups of society, many leaders distinctly said that they seek unity also in relation to people of other faiths than their own. This unity can be driven out of faith, such as relating to common origin as we have seen, or for example to the words of Jesus to love your enemy as yourself. Sexual minorities are not considered to be living according to the will of God, but even if Uganda has been known for hostile attitudes toward LGBTQ people, many of the leaders expressed an attitude where faith can be a driver for respectful behaviour toward these people.

We are not judging them, we are not judging them, only we are showing them it is not biblical. We are not insulting them, we are not judging them. We are not chasing them from the community, no. Because they are God's creatures. (Interview 3, 2019)

A theology of human dignity is a facilitator, a possible driver for religious leaders to promote peace and to prevent atrocities. Involvement of religious leaders in atrocity prevention should include consideration of how to strengthen this theological aspect.

6.2.2. Mission and mandate

From the interviews, it also becomes evident that the possibility to involve religious leaders as agents of change toward peaceful communities can be increased by their self-understanding of having a divine mission and mandate. This self-understanding makes it possible for them to be bold in risky situations. When one of the respondents was asked of drivers for getting involved in mediation and reconciliation, he states that Christ has given him a mandate as an ambassador of peace. Even if he sees risks in confronting the wrongdoers, the same respondent described how the prophets of the Bible might serve as role models for speaking the truth also in times of danger.

You read it in the Bible, you have heard about the Jeremiahs, the Isaiahs, those people. The prophets of the olden days. Because of the truth they preached, they suffered it. So let us also be ready to take the risk. People here have taken the risk. Janani Luwom took the risk when that government of that time were very brutal on its citizens, killing them. And Janani stood up and said, now if you kill all of them, whom will you lead? And he earned his life for those words. So we need to be there, we need to stand whether the world will want it or not, because we know where we are going. (Interview 1, 2019)

Biblical prophets and other religious leaders, such as the former Anglican Archbishop Janani Luwom who was killed by the Idi Amin regime, can serve as motivating examples of being faithful to their divine mandate even to the point of being killed. A Catholic priest described in a similar way how he has been able to criticise the government and promote free democratic elections even though he has experienced pressure from political leaders to not get involved in politics: "It's a risking, but if I'm a priest, I am not going to say no, I am bold enough to go." (Interview 6, 2019).

The divine mandate and mission is however not something that only is present in the selfunderstanding of religious leaders. As we have seen, religious leaders are highly respected and influential in the Ugandan context. This understanding of religious leaders owning a moral agency in society was also present as an important theme in the interviews. The leaders described how they often, especially in rural areas, are preferred as contacts before the police when there are conflicts or issues of justice.

The leaders communicate directly with their followers through for example preaching. One of the leaders explained how he, through preaching, had been able to unite conflicting migrant groups from Burundi, Rwanda and DRC. The leaders are expected to raise their voices in times of conflict or

resentments, both in local and national conflicts. Respondents also mentioned how they as leaders are given platforms to speak to audiences at community functions, such as funerals, weddings, graduations and other gatherings. In those settings the leaders are able to confront issues that threaten peace in the society, such as hateful speech against a certain group.

The religious leaders in Uganda hold a divine mission and mandate, both in their own view as well as in their followers' views. This societal position is certainly a facilitator for involving the leaders in preventing atrocities and their self-understanding can drive them to also take personal risks for the greater cause. There is an awareness among the respondents that their moral agency also includes a certain responsibility in how they communicate and act. Great mandate also means great responsibility and the leaders pointed out that education and knowledge is crucial in order to act with restraint.

6.2.3. Holistic peacebuilding

The leaders expressed how they are involved in various initiatives that can be defined as holistic peacebuilding. This means involvement in conflict resolution but also in initiatives for societal development and in spiritual transformation. Many of these initiatives can be included in Brewer et al.'s definition of promoting positive peace; to not just limit the use of violence, but to also stimulate a just and equal society and to counter structural discrimination. Religious institutions in the country have a long tradition of this. The respondents mentioned various long-term developmental initiatives such as giving vocational training to young people, literacy projects, HIV and AIDS programming, women empowerment and other educational initiatives. The economic development of the country, with increasing inequalities between rich and poor, is a factor that creates division. The leaders gave examples of how religious institutions equip these people for reasonable work as self-starters. They are also running peace initiatives that educates and brings understanding of cultural differences between different groups. Programs are given to build capacities of local communities in how to handle disagreements. Materials are produced and distributed to schools while teachers are educated in how to raise these issues among the students. Many of these holistic initiatives are however dependent on international donors for bringing resources and capacities. As we will see later, this often turns to a barrier for religious leaders from getting involved at higher levels.

The most explicit way that religious leaders are involved in atrocity prevention is through mediation and reconciliation. The leaders mentioned many different experiences of mediating in conflicts. Historical ones like when the current president Museveni was a rebel leader and involved in violent conflict with the sitting government. Other examples raised were the mediation with Kony in Gulu or between the Lango and Karamojong people. Even other examples are more recent, between the government and a local kingdom in Kasese or situations in Kampala. Sometimes the mediating initiatives take form from national networks organising religious leaders, other examples involve mainly local leadership who come together to solve conflicts.

When religious leaders are called to mediate in a conflict, they are also asked to pray for the situation. The leaders come with a spiritual understanding of conflicts. One of the respondents explained his experience of how prayer can play a transformative role when it comes to mediation.

Yes, we as pastors are doing the mediation, we mediate when people are quarrelling one another. First I say, 'let us start our program with a prayer'. When you start a program with a prayer, from that very moment, even if those people were not talking or they are sitting aside from one another, I see the power of prayer /.../ the prayer seem to bring the situation a little bit lower, this is what I witnessed. (Interview 8, 2019)

Religious leaders can serve as neutral actors when the conflicts concern for example political and ethnic issues. Some examples of mediation concerned conflicts in other countries in the region, Sudan is mentioned but also one example in Burundi. In the case in Burundi, it was pivotal with the support

of an international organisation like Caritas. In many cases, the local peacebuilding initiatives are dependent on international donors, and again this turns out to also be a barrier.

Religious umbrella organisations and networking is another way in how religious leaders are continually involved in peacebuilding. One respondent who is involved in in the IRC, an organisation with the profile of being "religions for peace", expressed how they work holistic with a human rights perspective. He emphasized the need for interreligious bodies in order to bring peace and understanding between different religious groups.

We come together for a common good. We do interfaith dialogue, but interfaith dialogue and action. We see those things that can bring us together, like health, poverty eradication, then peace is our main goal, it is peace. We need to see our coexistence, as such as Christians and Muslims can live together. (Interview 12, 2019)

Religious leaders bring a holistic perspective on peacebuilding. They are active in typical conflict resolution through mediating initiatives, but also in long-term peace and development programs, and they also bring a transformative faith in difficult situations. These activities can be understood as atrocity prevention by building local resilience. There seems to be possibilities and willingness to enlarge this role among religious leaders, but limited resources and dependence on international donors continues to be a barrier for possible initiatives.

6.2.4. Education

Education for religious leaders is considered as an important facilitator for involving religious leaders. The educational level varies and a major barrier is access to education. The leaders that had been able to study in higher education highlighted the importance of being educated in order to handle conflicts and identity-based division. One of the respondents explained how his experiences of studying at an interdenominational school of theology, made him more open to cooperate with leaders of other denominations. Building capacities by education and knowledge of other denominations can be a factor for stronger networks. Interfaith dialogue is often met with scepticism from ordinary believers, and increasing understanding of the concept is often required to be able to involve leaders.

A shifting religious context is a challenge related to education. Especially among the Pentecostal or Born Again, there is a problem with independent churches being established by people without theological training. One respondent explained how someone who lacks theological training may present personal interpretations of the Bible and putting his own meaning to verses without knowing the context, and through those messages cause resentments toward other groups.

Religious leaders also need to be educated in order to avoid or to prevent incitement to violence. One leader expressed this aspect by relating to the influence of faith leaders.

Faith leaders in this country actually have a big voice. They are always respected. /.../ So as a faith leader I think we all have to be very careful of what we say. And that's why I am saying that we need to be educated and knowledgeable of what we believe and what we actually should be careful to not say. And also we need to be cautious that we have a community following us, so our words are very important. (Interview 2, 2019)

Theological training is needed but also knowledge of how to prevent incitement to violence, for example through distinguishing and countering dangerous speech and ideology. Even knowledge in other aspects of societal life is important. As we have seen, people often turn to religious leaders for guidance regarding conflict or when they have been exposed to criminal acts. People may have low knowledge of legal procedures and also a lack of trust toward police and judicial instances. The leaders also expressed a need of knowledge on the use of media. They had experienced misuse by people who disseminate hateful and inciting speeches, especially through social media.

Higher educational levels for religious leaders, with theological training and also knowledge of other aspects of societal life, is an important facilitator for religious leaders to be involved in atrocity prevention. This raises questions regarding who should provide the education and who can pay for it. To raise educational levels of religious leaders requires sponsors, there is not lack of interest of higher diplomas by religious leaders or Ugandans in general.

6.2.5. Networking

Networking between leaders, denominations or with international partners is seen as a facilitator for involving religious leaders. When it comes to spreading messages to prevent violence, examples were given of how networking organisations such as IRC or UJCC can equip leaders with capacity to coin and disseminate messages of peace through different media channels like radio stations. These organisations are also important for bringing different denominations together and creating spaces for dialogue.

Networking is also important within a certain denomination. When leaders have an opportunity to meet each other, they can avoid division and share experiences of current struggles in the local communities. This kind of networking is also an important opportunity for leaders at the local level to communicate with regional or national leadership. There is however a barrier for networking due to the lack of resources. Many religious leaders are not paid and they are lacking funds to travel. Even national and regional leadership have limited opportunities to travel and meet the local leadership. Isolation can thereby be a ground for breeding violent thoughts regarding other groups.

Mainstream denominations have a stronger developed organisation for networking relations. The Pentecostal leaders described a weaker structure and a more scattered landscape consisting of several different umbrella organisations. Even if the family of Pentecostal churches comprise a significant part of the Ugandan population, Pentecostal leaders are not involved in conflict mediation on high level conflicts to the same extent as the mainstream churches. One of the Pentecostal leaders related this to the need of organising networks.

Yes, now it is usual because Pentecostals are organised. It is not as before when we worked independently, but now we have learned to work together with other sister church organisations. (Interview 3, 2019)

Stronger organisations and networking is considered a facilitator for involving religious leaders in peacebuilding. Examples were also given of networks in the Great Lakes region, binding denominations and religious leaders from different countries together. Many large-scale conflicts affect not only one specific country but also other countries in the region. Stronger ties between religious leaders may be an important mitigating factor in atrocity prevention.

6.3. Barriers for involving religious leaders

6.3.1. Poverty

The first barrier concern poverty. Poverty and despair risk to become a breeding ground for hatred, which makes individuals willing to take on any assignment for changing his situation. One respondent related poverty to the emergence of rebel or terrorist movements such as Al-Shabab.

People want to be rich, and they have been given money to join for example Al-Shabab. If you tell people you will give them money, you're going to look after their family, and many other things... come and join us! Because people are poor, being poor is a threat and it can bring about insecurity. (Interview 12, 2019)

The leaders drew connections between poverty and conflict and expressed the need to help people to resist from joining violent groups. The youth is especially vulnerable and easily manipulated by anybody who can present themselves as a saviour.

The fact that religious leaders are highly respected and influential actors in society also makes them a target for political actors who tries to infiltrate by using money or gifts. Poverty and hope for a better life can make it difficult for religious leaders to resist corruption. One of the respondents described the risk of politicians buying the platforms of religious leaders, a more common problem among newly founded faith organisations.

Some of also the barriers and challenges we have are the politicians. Somehow, sometimes they infiltrate the communities by use of money. And we also have churches that do not have real base, in the sense that they are money-makers. Many small churches are upcoming every day. And then they are also used by politicians, so sometimes it is a bit challenging, very challenging. (Interview 4, 2019)

Lack of organising structures with controlling and overseeing bodies is especially a challenge for the upcoming independent churches. Sometimes these independent churches are accused of being focused on prosperity, and all the assets of the church are assigned to the founding family. Mainstream denominations have to a larger extent developed protective structures.

Poverty is a barrier for involving religious leaders since it give room for letting economic opportunities negatively influence or silence the message. These aspects will be further developed below.

6.3.2. Politics

Religious leaders and actors face and recognize political barriers. As we have seen in the literature review, faith can sometimes be a barrier from forming peaceful societies by focusing too much on individual change or community change but not enough on political change and democratic development. Some leaders expressed how important it is that they as religious leaders stay out of politics, referring to elections and political power. Their main message in relation to politics, to focus on keeping peace and stability in the country, may result in political silence and restrict the process of democratisation.

But there are also examples given when religious leaders are considered to be too outspoken and are therefore confronted and offered gifts by government representatives in order to be silent. One of the respondents, a Catholic priest, told that a colleague who used to speak out and criticise the government was given money to study in Europe. When he came back he was instead supporting the government. The respondent had himself also been confronted in order to be silenced, but he described how his faith and divine mandate made it possible for him to resist.

- They say we are talking too much, what do they do? They give you what you need. You want a car? It's a gift. You don't have much money? It's a gift. So they are slowly but silently silencing the outspoken religious leaders. And everybody is aware of that.

- Are they giving gifts to the leaders?

- Faith leaders, yes. And therefore, somewhere to the end of the day, you will see that they are no longer speaking out. Because of they are silenced. And you wonder why, but if you study the situation, you know it is because of that kind of life. And I have been one of those outspoken people who has come out strongly to speak against. They have sent twice, people 'shut up, you stop talking, we give you money as much as you want, we shall take you to Europe and we will organise it'. No! As a religious leader I must speak on behalf for the marginalised. (Interview 6, 2019) The leader pointed out the divine mission, that Christ has given a mission to care for the poor and marginalised, as the reason to be able to reject the offer. Another of the respondents described how religious leaders are silenced when they criticise the government for corruption, but at the same time often are called whenever there is a conflict rising.

When they need us, when they need us to help them, they are the first one to run to us (laughing), when it comes to helping them. For example to bring peace when things go wrong, they are the ones to run to religious leaders. But when you talk about the bad they are doing, they say 'you are not good, you are not good people'. (Interview 12, 2019)

The government seem to have an ambiguous relation to religious actors. They are dependent on their influence in some issues but they also try to limit their influence in other issues.

As we have seen above, faith and politics can have a fragile relationship. Faith leaders may be criticised or silenced for getting involved in politics, but there might also be a problem with an overemphasizing on peace and stability which in fact can silence democratic processes.

6.3.3. Ignorance

The leaders also expressed how ignorance can be a problem among leaders as well as their followers. Uneducated leaders may be less open for taking actions for peacebuilding and preventing atrocities, for example by resisting networking with leaders of other faiths than their own. The lack of education among the population is also a problem when ignorant leaders use religious platforms. If people are not well educated, they are probably not able to question the message. The ignorance gives room for hateful messages and ideas to be founded in the name of religion. One of the respondents highlighted this when he was asked to present barriers for peacebuilding and atrocity prevention.

Education is very important, education is the most important. Because if you are not educated, someone can come to you and tell you, for example you might be seated like 40 in a Mosque, someone comes and tells you, 'Islam tells you this and this and this, you have to fight these Christians, whenever you see a Christian you can cut of the head, if you cut of the head you are going to Jannah, you are going to paradise'. Someone comes and tells you such words, and tells you that's what Islam says. If you know, if you are knowledgeable, you say, you tell him, 'Where did you get this information from? Can you give me a verse in the Koran? Can you give me a hadith, and from where?' (Interview 12, 2019)

The leader explained that ignorance give room for hateful and inciting speeches. Education, both among leaders and the population in general, is very important in order to respond to this challenge.

The interviews raised examples of division between adherents of the same faith family but also between different religions. Examples were given of how Muslim teachers accepts violence against non-Muslims, Christians calling Muslims for "Al-Shabab", Muslims calling Christians "unclean", Catholics accusing Pentecostals for being demonised, or Pentecostals accusing fellow Christians for not preaching the true gospel. Most of these religious divisions do not lead to violent acts and violence is most of the times not promoted by the leadership either. Nevertheless, there are examples of religious leaders playing a significant role in increasing division by hateful speeches. The religious leaders in this study often explained these negative aspects of faith as being examples of ignorant and selfish religion. The problem of selfish religion is also related to an unwillingness to cooperate with other faiths in order to promote peace.

Another barrier for involving religious leaders in promoting peace and preventing atrocities is the disinclination to defend people who advocates a lifestyle which goes against the values of the leaders' faith. This becomes most evident when it comes to sexual minorities. The leaders of this study did not express aversion towards this group in the interviews, but they were not always willing to recognise them as a vulnerable group. Instead the leaders related the presence of sexual minorities to foreign

influence, and the advocacy for the rights of sexual minorities was linked to economic contributions from Western countries.

In African countries, there are no homosexuals. Homosexuality comes from the Western countries. So there is no problem of homosexuality in our churches. (Interview 7, 2019)

Ignorance is in different aspects a barrier for involving religious leaders in preventing mass atrocities. Ignorant leaders give room for selfish usage of religion, to hateful speeches and to unwillingness to cooperate with other groups or denominations.

6.3.4. Lack of resources

Another major barrier for involving religious leaders in building peace and preventing atrocities is the lack of resources. Resources are necessary for giving leaders basic theological training. Resources are needed for networking and building alliances between leaders of different faiths as well as within denominations. You need resources in order to disseminate messages through media for preventing incitement to violence. Resources are needed for building positive peace by meeting the needs of people, for running long-term peace and development programs.

There is also a struggle for local leaders to reach sites where they hear that division is arising. One of the respondents described how he can receive a phone call from a place five miles away but it is too costly to reach that kind of place, transportation is a barrier not least in rural areas. Another respondent explained how mediation in large scale conflicts demands a great deal of resources in order to start mediating.

Sometimes there is a situation where you need to move to a very bad area, a very tricky area. And then you have no possibilities to move to that area. For example what happened in Kasese, we had to get money, security, transport and many, many other facilities. If you fail, then you report to God, that's the only way. (Interview 12, 2019)

From the example of a recent conflict in Kasese, the respondent expressed a barrier in finding the necessary resources for reaching the sites of violence and to start mediation between conflicting parties.

The lack of resources is a barrier for religious leaders to be involved in peacebuilding and atrocity prevention. They are dependent on international donors in many initiatives but there are barriers also in the international relationships that will be presented in the following section.

6.3.5. International relations

Relations to international actors are vital for religious actors to reach the next level of involvement in atrocity prevention, but the leaders in this study expressed an ambiguous relationship to international donors with negative experiences of disrespect regarding local values.

It is mainly the national level leadership that mention the possibilities and barriers regarding international relations to receive support for resources and capacity building. It is mentioned how the international organisations often come with a specific agenda and that they often do not relate to the needs as the religious leaders see them. The issues could concern what region of the country that is considered to have the greatest needs, but it could also concern what kind of initiatives that is needed. The leaders write proposals but have experienced struggles in receiving funds. One of the respondents told about a negative experience of donors coming with an agenda, without willingness to specify what the challenge concerned.

I don't want to give an example but we have an experience. It's a bad experience. We have a very worst experience, with a certain donor. When we talked about our values as religious leaders. They say that if you talk about something, you are going to get problems and we are going to take all our resources. We said, it is ok, you can take our resources. But these are our values as religious leaders and as Africans. We said, ok, take the resources. And they took the resources. (Interview 12, 2019)

The respondent expressed a lack of respect for the local values and the consequence of not being willing to adapt was a loss of resources. One area that may cause challenges concern gender equality. One leader mentioned that even if he was not against the idea of equality, he thought it sometimes was impossible to implement it in the way that international organisations specify the outcomes of a project, due to the local culture and setting. Another aspect that has become a barrier for international relations is when the rights of sexual minorities must be coded in the program planning.

Sometimes their conditions keep on changing. For us, we are open, but sometimes they put in some little conditions. You must maybe be ready to maybe to deal, if I mention one of the few, transgender sex, whatever... And these are not things that you can carry on in some of our communities. We are just open to whoever comes, we don't ask whether you are gay or lesbian, we just treat everybody. Because the message is for everybody. But if you code it, you make it difficult for us. You make us think the way you want to think. We are thinking differently, that we can help everybody. But you make it as a condition and we have to sign it, sometimes it becomes a bit difficult for us. /.../ I think it is totally lack of respect because in the beginning we had for instance missionaries, people from Europe, who came here and told us 'this is like this, this is like this'. For instance, if you were a teacher at school, you had to get married, that's what they brought us. Now after so many years, now you are bringing new norms, 'sorry that was a mistake, now this is the new norms that I have brought you'. As if we don't have minds ourselves (laughing). So I think that is a mistake, we need to learn each other, and find how we can balance. (Interview 4, 2019)

Regarding the issue of how to relate to LGBTQ persons, the leaders expressed how they experience that their culture and values are questioned and not respected. The leader expressed a frustration over how the conditions from Western organisations keep on changing over time and that the international community does not respect the local ideas. There didn't seem to be an equal relationship, the locals are expected to change their values according to the will of their international supporters. There is a lack of appreciation where the international organisations are not interested to know or to understand how and why the local community is valuing certain things. One leader explained how he was denied help from the American embassy due to this.

I was caught by the American embassy. 'What about these people who are sexually harassed?' I said, for us, that is a taboo, we handle it quietly, you don't have to blow. If anybody goes, he is helped quietly. But we are not going to put as number one, promoting for the homosexuals, no. /.../ So I didn't get any help there. Because they were talking 'marginalised, marginalised', and I said yes, there are so many marginalised cases, but we pick only handful. As they say, you bite what you can chew, the English saying. (Interview 6, 2019)

You bite what you can chew. When it comes to finding support from international organisations, the leaders expressed a lack of sensitivity and a pressure to relate to issues in a way that they do not feel comfortable in doing. This way, the dependency on support and ambiguous relationship becomes a barrier for involving religious leaders in atrocity prevention.

7. Discussion

In this chapter I will begin to discuss the results in relation to three theoretical perspectives that will deepen our understanding of the possibilities to involve religious leaders in atrocity prevention. After that, I will add some additional reflections on the results.

The first perspective is Stephen McLoughlin's *Framework for Understanding the Prevention of Mass Atrocities* (2014b). His criticism of structural prevention to favour external diagnosis and prognosis seems to be highly relevant also for discussing involvement of religious leaders. The leaders experience a lack of respect and lack of appreciation from international actors when it comes to discussing local needs and values. This study is not evaluating the choices made by international donors or the ability of religious leaders to take preventative actions, but we can point out that the ideas of involving local nonstate actors in atrocity prevention is not as easy in practice as it sounds in theory. Local actors and their understanding of the local context seems to be downgraded and the agenda of international actors is deciding what resource-demanding preventative initiatives that will be supported.

McLoughlin also points out the importance of strengthening local resilience for mitigating risk factors of social, political and economic dimensions. In this aspect we can see that religious leaders primarily stimulate resilience by fostering social cohesion. There are religious leaders who are mitigating identity-based division by promoting inclusive societies, addressing injustices and supporting vulnerable groups. A holistic perspective on peacebuilding can contribute to building local resilience. Factors of faith are important drivers for the leaders, both a theology of human dignity as well as an understanding of a divine mission and mandate. Education and networking are also seen as facilitators for these initiatives of holistic peacebuilding. There are however barriers that can weaken the ability to foster resilience. Poverty threatens to give space for political influence and ignorant leadership that weakens the theological clarity and moral leadership. Leaders may instead use religion for personal prosperity in a way that will deteriorate social cohesion. It can also give space for political forces to use religious platforms for their own interest or to the silencing of outspoken religious leaders. Lack of resources and frosty international relations is a barrier for the ability of religious actors to mediate in conflicts or promoting positive peace.

There are possibilities to also involve religious leaders in the areas of democracy and promoting equal economic opportunities, but these aspects of fostering resilience are less significant in the data collected by this study. Regarding economic development, other studies have shown that religious actors are important agents of change. Dena Freeman is claiming that Pentecostal churches has done more for development and poverty alleviation in Africa than all international aid organisations combined (2012). When it comes to promoting a democratic development and changing state policies, we have seen that the silencing of outspoken religious leaders is a barrier. There is also a risk that an over-emphasis on stability and peaceful elections before a strengthened democracy have negative effect on the leaders' ability to stimulate democratisation processes.

The second perspective to be considered is Brewer et al.'s conceptualisation of religion and peacemaking. Their perspective is helpful for understanding the possibility of involving religious leaders in atrocity prevention, especially for understanding "the nexus of religion, civil society, and state relations" (Brewer et al., 2010, p1022). In this aspect, Brewer et al. denotes the ability of bridging social capital as essential for stimulating positive peace and by that bringing social healing to societies characterised of identity-based division. This study show that there is room for this kind of inclusive solidarity among religious leaders who endorse a theology of human dignity. Inter-faith dialogue is one aspect of that, but there is resistance from what is described as ignorant or selfish religious leaders and adherents. Education and knowledge are important aspects of raising the ability of religious leaders in bridging social capital. Brewer et al. highlights the need of religious actors to represent "trustworthiness, legitimacy and relationship-building skills with other civil society groups *outside* contested sacred spaces" (Ibid., p1033). However, except for religious groups, civil society is

not very strong in Uganda and the religious leaders in this study gave few references to non-religious civil society groups. This affects the discussion of the four strategic social spaces of civil society which Brewer et al. see as crucial for advocating positive peace.

The intellectual spaces where religious leaders envision peace, are primarily in inter-faith dialogue and intra-faith networking. But the greater vision of peace is also fostered in the respective religious communities by progressive leaders who preach messages of unity and common origin. The local religious communities can also serve as institutional spaces where inclusivity is practised by gathering and uniting people of different ethnicity, nationality and other identity markers. There is however a risk that these spaces are bonding rather than bridging social capital. Market spaces are mainly in areas of networking and especially international relations where resources are negotiated in order to promote positive peace. It is worth noting that the tension between what is labelled as Western and African values, might imply that religious leaders who is approaching a Western understanding for gaining resources, might at the same time lose significance and be questioned in national social spaces. Religious leaders are lastly also involved in political spaces by negotiation of peace settlements and mediation in conflicts. But as we have noted, there is a need to enlarge these strategic social spaces to also involve a greater web of civil society actors. The fact that religious actors remain the strongest actors in Ugandan civil society (Jordhus-Lier and Braathen, 2013) makes inter-faith mobilisation instrumental for preventing atrocities.

The final theoretical perspective to be discussed is Heiner Bielefeldt's conceptualisation of freedom of religion and belief (2013). Bielefeldt present threats toward four basic human rights principles; universalism, freedom, principles of equality and non-discrimination, and the indivisibility of rights. This study has not related to limitations of the universality of freedom of religion or belief, but it can be useful to remind that the right of human beings to hold opinions regarding sexual morality remain strong. But it is also relevant to remind that universalism concerns all rights, including the rights of sexual minorities. Freedom of religion is neither supposed to protect religions or religious people from criticism but includes both freedom to promote and to problematize religion. It is however important to keep protecting the freedom of religion, even in variants that can be considered as ignorant religion. Limiting the freedom of human beings may in fact be counterproductive and instead breed hatred.

The principles of equality and non-discrimination are according to Bielefeldt directly related to the idea of inherent dignity for all human beings. When religious leaders hold a theology of human dignity, there should be room for diversity. However, it is doubtful that religious leaders in Uganda would promote political secularism and reasonable accommodation might be seen as applicable on other religions, but it is questionable if sexual minority groups would be considered. At this point, we have to reflect on the indivisibility of rights. Where goes the line between the freedom of proclaiming your religious opinions and to discriminate other groups? Bielefeldt is on this matter arguing that hate speech should not primarily be restricted, but instead be countered with alternative speech. With the help of for example Leader Maynard & Benesch's model for discerning dangerous speech and ideology, it is possible to define when hateful speech actually turns into dangerous speech. The concept of freedom is dependent on both freedom of expression and freedom of belief. LGBTQ rights are facing opposition by religious actors, but how should that be handled? Even if people have the right to express their religiously motivated perspectives on sexual orientation and family life, freedom of religion cannot legitimize the denial of LGBTQ rights or promotion of discriminatory legislation. At the other hand, the internal autonomy of religious institutions should be respected, and "the prohibition of coercing anyone to actively participate in practices that are in opposition to their deep, personal convictions must also be strictly observed in the application of non-discrimination agendas" (Bielefeldt, 2013, p66).

Is it possible to find a middle way here, in the relationship between religious leaders and international organisations and donor countries? If there is a willingness, it should be possible to find a way forward. It might be a possibility if religious leaders could avoid denying LGBTQ rights, and the international partners at the same time avoided setting conditions for their support of involving religious leaders that are against the religious leaders' deep, personal convictions. After all,

cooperation does not have to mean consensus. Religious leaders have already showed that by cooperating with each other in preventing violence, even if they at the same time are propagating for opposing ideas of how to understand and live this life. Different faiths, different ideologies, but a common humanity.

Another issue in donor relationships could relate to the need of theological training, even if this was not mentioned in the material. In Sweden, state sponsoring of confessional education is always debated and often there are huge barriers for seeking funding from secular states for religious education. But what if theological education is seen as a facilitator for preventing atrocity crimes? And if international donors to a higher degree would sponsor local theological education, what would their agenda be when it comes to forming the curriculum?

If we turn back to the first research question, how religious leaders are involved in atrocity prevention, this study has showed that religious leaders are involved in activities of preventative character, even if they in general not acknowledge them as relating to mass atrocities. Many of their actions, such as spreading messages of human dignity, advocating for peace initiatives and mediating in conflicts, or other aspects of holistic peacebuilding, are seen as natural parts of their leadership. Mission and mandate for change is not motivated by theoretical understanding of atrocity prevention but from their faith and theology. In line with the argumentation of Harpviken & Røislien (2008) and David Little (2007), religious actors are involved by the use of religious identities and a theology of peace and human dignity for creating common grounds between different groups. They are also involved in atrocity prevention by using their normative systems and mandate for promoting ethical behaviour, and by using their organisational structures as channels for mobilisation and communication.

8. Conclusion

This study has examined the nexus of human rights, atrocity prevention and the involvement of religious actors. Exclusionary ideologies and the accentuation of identity differences continues to threaten the vision of freedom, justice and peace in the world by motivating mass atrocities and gross human rights violations. The legal responsibility for preventing atrocity crimes remains at state level, but the role of local nonstate actors in reducing risks of genocide, war crimes, crimes against humanity and ethnic cleansing should not be underestimated. Religious leaders can play an important role as local nonstate actors, by influencing the behaviour of their adherents. Uganda is an interesting case due to the presence of several risk factors for mass atrocities, but also for the high influence religious leaders hold in society. The aim of this study was to explore how religious leaders in Uganda are involved in atrocity prevention. The possibilities for involving religious leaders was examined by searching for facilitators and barriers.

In order to answer the research questions, the study applied an explorative qualitative lifeworld approach with semi-structured interviews. Data was collected via twelve individual interviews with religious leaders from four different denominations: Anglican, Catholic, Muslim and Pentecostal. The material was analysed by thematic analysis in order to distinguish themes and sub-themes. Further analysis was done with three theoretical perspectives. The framework of Stephen McLoughlin brought an understanding for atrocity prevention. Brewer et al.'s conceptualisation related to the involvement of religious actors. And finally, Bielefeldt's conceptualisation of freedom of religion and belief gave a distinct human rights perspective on the material.

The results of the study show that religious leaders are involved in atrocity prevention. Many of their actions can be understood as mitigating risk factors of atrocity crimes by fostering local resilience. They mitigate identity-based division by promoting inclusive societies through messages of human dignity. They advocate for peace initiatives, mediate in conflicts, and other examples of holistic peacebuilding. These initiatives toward an inclusive solidarity are seen as natural parts of their leadership, motivated by a theology of human dignity and inspired by a divine mission and mandate to be agents of change.

Religious leaders can also have a negative influence by promoting exclusive solidarity and by disseminating hateful speech and incitement to violence. The possibilities for involving leaders toward positive influence is answered by the identification of five facilitators and five barriers.

The first facilitator is a theology of human dignity, a possible driver for religious leaders to prevent atrocities by giving room for diversity. A second facilitator is the understanding of a divine mission and mandate, both as self-understanding as well as in the view of their followers. This perspective can drive the leaders to take personal risks for a greater cause. The third facilitator is a holistic perspective on peacebuilding with initiatives for conflict mediation, long-term peace and development programs, and also transformative faith. A fourth facilitator is education for religious leaders, with theological training but also other knowledge such as how to distinguish and counter dangerous speech and ideology. A fifth facilitator is networking, between leaders, between denominations and also in relation to international partners.

The first barrier for involving religious leaders is poverty, both among leaders and adherents. Poverty give room for negative influence on theology and to political silencing or affiliation motivated by the gaining of economic opportunities. The second barrier concern politics. A tendency among religious leaders to overemphasize stability and peaceful elections can in fact silence democratisation processes, but there are also examples of political leaders silencing outspoken religious leaders or gaining religious platforms by corruption. A third barrier is ignorance, both among leaders and their followers, which give room for selfish usage of religion, to hateful preaching and unwillingness to cooperate with other groups or denominations. The fourth barrier concerns lack of resources for initiatives such as mediation, education, networking, usage of media for countering dangerous speeches, or long-term peace and developmental programs. This leads us to the fifth and final barrier, challenging international relations complicates support of capacities and resources to prevent atrocities. The unequal relationship, with a tendency of external diagnosis and prognosis of risk factors and preventative actions, is considered to devalue local priorities and values.

The study has answered the research questions and resulted in new perspectives on the involvement of religious leaders in Uganda in atrocity prevention, but there are also limitations. The study has explored the lifeworld of religious leaders in Uganda, but there are of course also several other perspectives that could inform the results. Civil society groups, political actors, community groups or international actors could also give important insight to the issue. It is also noteworthy that the theoretical perspectives applied in the study primarily brings a Western perception on the results. Other perspectives could probably have informed the analysis in other directions, but the three theoretical perspectives have at the same time been useful for exploring the research subject from different angles.

In regard to future research, it would be interesting to include other groups as mentioned above, but also to use observations or quantitative methods to validate and triangulate the results. The study could also be conducted in other contexts with other religions present for examining possibilities to generalize the results, or for further theorising regarding the facilitators and barriers.

The results of the study should be of interest for different actors motivated to prevent atrocities. Local leadership, either political or religious, could use it for strengthening the role of religious leaders in this matter. International organisations or donor countries may use the study for reflecting over possibilities to engage nonstate actors in early responses to risk factors of mass atrocities. The facilitators and barriers may inform policies for involving religious leaders in atrocity prevention.

The main field of this study is human rights, but its interdisciplinary approach has brought new perspectives of the possibilities to promote inclusive societies. Responsibilities to promote human rights and to prevent atrocities lies on all of humanity, including religious leaders. There are possibilities for taking new steps in engaging local perspectives in prevention, but there are also barriers to overcome and challenges for reaching true partnership between actors with different values. However, the task should not be overwhelming. After all, cooperation does not have to mean consensus, as long as we can agree on principles of human dignity, freedom and equality.

9. References

- Alava, H. (2017). Homosexuality, the holy family and a failed mass wedding in Catholic Northern Uganda. *Critical African Studies*, *9*(1), 32-51. doi:10.1080/21681392.2016.1245104
- Alava, H., & Ssentongo, J. S. (2016). Religious (de)politicisation in Uganda's 2016 elections. *Journal of Eastern African Studies, 10*(4), 677-692. doi:10.1080/17531055.2016.1270043
- Bellamy, A. (2015). The Responsibility to Protect Turns Ten. *Ethics & International Affairs, 29*(2), 161-185. doi:10.1017/S0892679415000052
- Bellamy, A. J., Dunne, T., & Evans, G. (2016). R2P (1 ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bengtsson, J. (2013). With the Lifeworld as Ground: Introduction to the Special Issue. An Outline of the Gothenburg Tradition of the Lifeworld Approach. *Indo-Pacific Journal of Phenomenology*, *13*(sup1), 1-9. doi:10.2989/IPJP.2013.13.2.3.1177
- Bielefeldt, H. (2013). Misperceptions of Freedom of Religion or Belief. *Human Rights Quarterly, 35*(1), 33-68.

Bozzoli, C., Brück, T., & Muhumuza, T. (2011). Does war influence individual expectations? *Economics Letters*, *113*(3), 288-291. doi:10.1016/j.econlet.2011.08.011

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Brewer, J. D., Higgins, G. I., & Teeney, F. (2010). Religion and Peacemaking: A Conceptualization. *Sociology*, 44(6), 1019-1037. doi:10.1177/0038038510381608

- Brysk, A. (2013). *Human Rights and Private Wrongs: Constructing Global Civil Society*: Taylor and Francis.
- Corbin, J. N., & Hall, J. C. (2019). Resettlement post conflict: Risk and protective factors and resilience among women in northern Uganda. *International Social Work, 62*(2), 918-932. doi:10.1177/0020872818755863
- Deininger, K. (2003). Causes and consequences of civil strife microlevel evidence from Uganda. *Oxford Economic Papers*, *55*(4), 579-606. doi:10.1093/oep/55.4.579
- European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights. (2017). *Shared Space of Religion and Human Rights*. Retrieved from: Luxenbourg: <u>https://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra_uploads/fra-2017-shared-space-religion-human-rights-meeting-report-en.pdf</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019).
- Fiala, N. (2015). Economic Consequences of Forced Displacement. *The Journal of Development Studies*, 51(10), 1275-1293. doi:10.1080/00220388.2015.1046446
- Freeman, D. (2012). *Pentecostalism and development : churches, NGOs and social change in Africa*. Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Harff, B., & Gurr, T. R. (2018). *Policies and Practices for Preventing Mass Atrocities*. Florence: Routledge.
- Harpviken, K. B., & Røislien, H. E. (2008). Faithful brokers? Potentials and pitfalls of religion in peacemaking. *Conflict Resolution Quarterly*, *25*(3), 351-373. doi:10.1002/crq.212
- Hill, R. V., Bernard, T., & Dewina, R. (2015). Evidence from the Uganda National Household Survey 2005. In *Cooperative behaviour in rural Uganda*: International Food Policy Research Institute. Kampala, Uganda.
- Human Rights Watch. (2019). *Uganda Events of 2018*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2019/country-chapters/uganda#</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019).
- Interview 1. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.
- Interview 2. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.
- Interview 3. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.
- Interview 4. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.
- Interview 5. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.
- Interview 6. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.
- Interview 7. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.
- Interview 8. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.
- Interview 9. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.

Interview 10. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.

Interview 11. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.

Interview 12. (2019). Interview by Elias Berg.

- Jordhus-Lier, D., & Braathen, E. (2013). Churches and Peace-Building in Eastern DR Congo and Northern Uganda. *Forum for Development Studies, 40*(1), 111-127. doi:10.1080/08039410.2012.732109
- Kvale, S., & Brinkmann, S. (2015). *InterViews : learning the craft of qualitative research interviewing* (3., [updated] ed.). Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- L'Osservatorio. (2018). The Nexus between Peacebuilding and Atrocity Prevention. Retrieved from <u>https://www.losservatorio.org/en/reports/item/1201-the-nexus-between-peacebuilding-and-atrocity-prevention</u> (Accesed: 1 October 2019)
- Leader Maynard, J., & Benesch, S. (2016). Dangerous Speech and Dangerous Ideology: An Integrated Model for Monitoring and Prevention. *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 9(3), 70-95. doi:10.5038/1911-9933.9.3.1317
- Leth, G., & Thurén, T. (2000). Källkritik för Internet. Stockholm: Styrelsen för psykologiskt försvar.
- Little, D. (2007). *Peacemakers in Action : Profiles of Religion in Conflict Resolution*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Lorch, D. (1994). Thousands of Rwanda Dead Wash Down to Lake Victoria. *New York Times*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nytimes.com/1994/05/21/world/thousands-of-rwanda-dead-wash-down-to-lake-victoria.html</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- Luck, E. C. (2015). R2P at Ten: A New Mindset for a New Era? *Global Governance: A Review of Multilateralism and International Organizations, 21*(4), 499-504. doi:10.1163/19426720-02104001
- McLoughlin, S. (2014a). Reconceptualizing Mass Atrocity Prevention: Understanding Risk and Resilience in Zambia.(Report). *International Journal of Politics, Culture, and Society, 27*(4), 427.
- McLoughlin, S. (2014b). Rethinking the Structural Prevention of Mass Atrocities. *Global Responsibility to Protect, 6*(4), 407-429. doi:10.1163/1875984X-00604004
- Miller, D. E. (2007). *Global Pentecostalism : the new face of Christian social engagement*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Moix, B. (2015). Moving Upstream and Going Local: The Responsibility to Protect Ten Years Later.(Commentary)(Essay). *Politics and Governance, 3*(3), 98. doi:10.17645/pag.v3i3.311
- Neufeldt, R. C. (2011). Interfaith Dialogue: Assessing Theories of Change. *Peace & Change, 36*(3), 344-372. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0130.2011.00702.x
- Nicholas, S. (2014). Peacebuilding for faith-based development organisations: informing theory and practice. *Development in Practice, 24*(2), 245-257. doi:10.1080/09614524.2014.884996
- Ntale, F. K. (2012). Religious actors and the agenda for peace in Northern Uganda. *The Journal of Social, Political and Economic Studies, 37*(3), 322.
- Office of the Prime Minister. (2019). Post-war Recovery, and Presidential Pledges. Retrieved from https://opm.go.ug/post-war-recovery-and-presidential-pledges (Accesed: 8 May 2019)

Oxfam. (2017). Who is growing? Ending inequality in Uganda. Retrieved from <u>https://oi-files-d8-prod.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/file_attachments/oxfam_in_uganda_inequality_report_compressed.pdf</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)

- Peace Insight. (2019). Atrocity prevention. Retrieved from <u>https://www.peaceinsight.org/themes/atrocity-prevention/</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- Pew Research Center. (2010, 15 April 2010). Sub-Saharan Africa Religion Database. Retrieved from https://www.pewforum.org/interactives/africa/country/228/ (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- Reike, R., & Bellamy, A. (2010). The Responsibility to Protect and International Law. *Global Responsibility to Protect*, 2(3), 267-286. doi:10.1163/187598410X500390
- Reuss, A., & Titeca, K. (2017a). Beyond ethnicity: the violence in Western Uganda and Rwenzori's 99 problems. *Review of African Political Economy, 44*(151), 131-141. doi:10.1080/03056244.2016.1270928

- Reuss, A., & Titeca, K. (2017b). When revolutionaries grow old: the Museveni babies and the slow death of the liberation. *Third World Quarterly, 38*(10), 2347-2366. doi:10.1080/01436597.2017.1350101
- Rohner, D., Thoenig, M., & Zilibotti, F. (2013). Seeds of distrust: conflict in Uganda. *Journal of Economic Growth*, 18(3), 217-252. doi:10.1007/s10887-013-9093-1
- Soi, I. 2016. The Muslim Minority in Uganda: The Historical Quest for Unity and Inclusion. Africana, XXII, 167-180.
- Stebbins, R. A. (2001). *Exploratory Research in the Social Sciences*. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Steen-Johnsen, T. (2017). *State and Politics in Religious Peacebuilding*. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- The Economist Intelligence Unit. (2019). *Democracy Index 2018: Me too? Political participation,* protest and democracy. Retrieved from https://www.eiu.com/public/topical_report.aspx?campaignid=democracy/2018 (Accesed:

<u>https://www.eiu.com/public/topical_report.aspx?campaignid=democracy2018</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)

- Uganda Bureau of Statistics. (2016). *The National Population and Housing Census 2014 Main report* Kampala, Uganda Retrieved from <u>https://www.ubos.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/publications/03_20182014_National_Census_Main_Report.pdf</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- UNCST. (2014). National Guidelines for Research involving Humans as Research Participants. Kampala: Uganda Retrieved from <u>https://uncst.go.ug/download/national-guidelines-for-research-involving-humans/</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- UNHCR. (2019). Uganda Operational Update. Retrieved from <u>http://reporting.unhcr.org/sites/default/files/UNHCR%20Uganda%20Operational%20Update</u> %20-%20July%202019.pdf (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- United Nations General Assembly. (1948). *Universal Declaration of Human Rights*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.un.org/en/universal-declaration-human-rights/</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- United Nations General Assembly. (1966). *International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ProfessionalInterest/ccpr.pdf</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- United Nations General Assembly. (2013). *A/67/929 Responsibility to protect: State responsibility and prevention*. Retrieved from <u>http://undocs.org/A/67/929</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- UNOGPRP (2019a). About Responsibility to Protect. Retrieved from
 https://www.un.org/en/genocideprevention/about-responsibility-to-protect.shtml (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- UNOGPRP (2019b). Civil Society. Retrieved from <u>https://www.un.org/en/genocideprevention/civil-society.shtml</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- UNOGPRP. (2017). *Plan of action for religious leaders and actors to prevent incitement to violence that could lead to atrocity crimes*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.un.org/en/genocideprevention/documents/Plan of Action Religious Prevent In</u> <u>cite.pdf</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- Weiss, T. G. (2013). The Responsibility to Protect (r2p) and Modern Diplomacy. In: Oxford University Press.
- Welsh, J. M. (2016). R2P's Next Ten Years. In T. D. Alex J. Bellamy (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of the Responsibility to Protect* (1 ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Vetenskapsrådet. (2017). Good Research Practice. Retrieved from <u>https://www.vr.se/download/18.5639980c162791bbfe697882/1555334908942/Good-</u> <u>Research-Practice VR 2017.pdf</u> (Accesed: 2 November 2019)
- Vindevogel, S., Ager, A., Schiltz, J., Broekaert, E., & Derluyn, I. (2015). Toward a culturally sensitive conceptualization of resilience: Participatory research with war-affected communities in northern Uganda. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, *52*(3), 396-416. doi:10.1177/1363461514565852

Appendix 1. Consent Form for Interviews

Please consider this information carefully before deciding whether to participate in this research.

Purpose of the research: To understand the experiences of religious leaders in atrocity prevention.

What you will do in this research: If you decide to volunteer, you will be asked to participate in one interview. During the interview, you will be asked several questions. With your permission, I will tape record the interviews. You will not be asked to state your name on the recording.

Time required: The interview will take approximately 1 hour.

Risks: No risks are anticipated.

Benefits: This is a chance for you to tell your story about your experiences concerning the subject.

Confidentiality: Your responses to interview questions will be kept confidential. At no time will your actual identity be revealed. You will be assigned a random numerical code. Anyone who helps me transcribe responses will only know you by this code. The data you give me will be used for a Master Thesis in Human Rights, and may be used as the basis for articles or presentations in the future. I won't use your name or information that would identify you in any publications or presentations.

Participation and withdrawal: Your participation in this study is completely voluntary, and you may refuse to participate or withdraw from the study without penalty. You may withdraw by informing the experimenter that you no longer wish to participate (no questions will be asked). You may skip any question during the interview, but continue to participate in the rest of the study.

To Contact the Researcher: If you have questions or concerns about this research, please contact: Elias Berg, email <u>gusberelas@student.gu.se</u>, phone +46709996101.

Agreement:

The nature and purpose of this research have been sufficiently explained and I agree to participate in this study. I understand that I am free to withdraw at any time without incurring any penalty.

Signature: ______

Date:	

Name (print): ______

Appendix 2. Interview guide

Presentation of research

- This study aims to explore the involvement of religious leaders in atrocity prevention. The study is not meant to review or assess your work but to gain understanding from your experiences. I hope you will share stories, experiences and thoughts regarding this topic and how it relates to your role as a religious leader.
- Opportunity for questions from the respondent regarding the research interview.
- Assurance of informed consent (signing of paper) and information regarding confidentiality.

INTERVIEW

Introductory questions:

- Can you make a short presentation of yourself regarding background, education and experience of leadership?
- Have you as a leader or your faith community experienced threat or being targeted with hate speech? If so, how?
- What are your experiences of tension/discrimination between groups, based on for example ethnic, religious or sexual identity?
- What are your experiences of messages of hostility, hatred or incitement to commit violence against specific communities (In your faith community or in society in general)? If so, how?

Thematic questions:

- *Leadership:* How is your position as a religious leader affecting your acting in this area?
- *Mediation:* What are your experiences of contributing to mediation, conflict prevention?
- *Interfaith relations:* What are your experiences of contributing to a culture of dialogue, promote inter and intra-religious dialogue, mutual understanding and respect?
- *Minorities:* How do you relate this topic to sexual minorities and gender-based discrimination and violence? How do you relate this topic to youth, where feelings of oppression and hopelessness can be drivers of radicalization?
- *Media:* In what way do you monitor the media, including social media, to identify and counter hate speech?
- Education: How is education related to issues of conflict and peacebuilding?
- *Networks:* What are your experiences of establishing networks/coalitions of inter-religious leaders and actors for peaceful societies, or to address other human rights violations?

Examples of probing questions:

- Can you describe the situation further, your thoughts and your acting?
- Can you describe a specific experience?
- Do you have other examples?

Summarizing questions:

- Is there anything you want to add? Any other information of interest for the study?
- Do you have any questions regarding the research?